

Walden University ScholarWorks

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection

2021

# Strategies for Technology Selection in the Retail Sector

Dare Oke Walden University

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations

Part of the Business Commons

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection at ScholarWorks. It has been accepted for inclusion in Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies by an authorized administrator of ScholarWorks. For more information, please contact ScholarWorks@waldenu.edu.

# Walden University

College of Management and Technology

This is to certify that the doctoral study by

Dare Oke

has been found to be complete and satisfactory in all respects, and that any and all revisions required by the review committee have been made.

Review Committee Dr. Rocky Dwyer, Committee Chairperson, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

Dr. Matthew Knight, Committee Member, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

Dr. Peter Anthony, University Reviewer, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

Chief Academic Officer and Provost Sue Subocz, Ph.D.

Walden University 2021

Abstract

Strategies for Technology Selection in the Retail Sector

by

Dare Oke

MBA, Walden University, 2016

BSC, Morgan State University, 2014

Doctoral Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Business Administration

Walden University

May 2021

Abstract

Some small retail business owners lack strategies to select the appropriate technology to achieve sustainable competitive advantages, which is why some small businesses fail. Grounded in the resource-based theory, the purpose of this qualitative multiple case study was to explore the strategies small retail business owners use to choose the appropriate technology to achieve sustainable competitive advantages. The participants comprised seven small retail business owners in the U.S. state of New Jersey who successfully implemented strategies to select the appropriate technology for their organization's success. Data were collected through semistructured interviews and observations of the business owners' technological footprints. Data were analyzed using thematic analysis. Three themes emerged: (a) customer relationship management, (b) marketing, and (c) process improvement. A key recommendation is for small retail business owners to use social media platforms such as Instagram and Facebook as tools for customer relationship management and development. The implications for positive social change include the potential to contribute strategies and knowledge that retailers can use to facilitate communication and consumer transactions. Implementation of these strategies could allow retailers to be more efficient and competitive, boost local economies, and improve customer satisfaction.

Strategies for Technology Selection in the Retail Sector

by

Dare Oke

MBA, Walden University, 2016

BSC, Morgan State University, 2014

Doctoral Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Business Administration

Walden University

May 2021

#### Dedication

I dedicate my doctoral study to my son James, who was born while I was working on the third section of this study. The third section of the study is where the researcher analyzes the gathered data. His birth gave me an unexplainable strength that motivated me to complete my study as planned with my chairperson. I also want to recognize my amazing wife, Andrea, who has been my life source throughout the journey. She is the reason I started the doctoral journey. My wife encouraged me to aim high when I was at a low point in my life, and hence, I embarked on the doctoral journey, which has allowed me to contribute to the body of knowledge. Family is everything, and I genuinely thank God for my fabulous family.

#### Acknowledgments

I want to say a huge thank you to Dr. Rocky Dwyer. I probably would not have gotten this far this quickly without his intervention. I wish he was my one and only chairperson. (I had four.) I say this with all sincerity that he is a real leader. God has endowed him with the gift to lead, and he does it with such an original passion. Dr. Dwyer certainly motivated me to complete my study, and I want to express my sincere gratitude for all his help and support.

I also want to thank Dr. Matthew Knight, my second committee member. Dr. Dwyer needed a team to get me to the finish line, and Dr. Knight was one of the people who made my study completion a reality. Another integral part of the team who got me to study completion is Dr. Peter Anthony, the university research reviewer assigned to my capstone, along with Dr. Susan Davis, the DBA program director. Thank you all for the excellent work you have done with me. I can write endlessly about how you all have made a real impact in my life. Thank you all once again.

ist of Tables	V
Section 1: Foundation of the Study	1
Background of the Problem	1
Problem Statement	2
Purpose Statement	3
Nature of the Study	3
Research Question	5
Interview Questions	6
Conceptual Framework	6
Operational Definitions	7
Assumptions, Limitations, and Delimitations	8
Assumptions	8
Limitations	9
Delimitations	9
Significance of the Study	10
Contribution to Business Practice	10
Implications for Social Change	11
A Review of the Professional and Academic Literature	11
Literature Review Organization	12
The Resource-Based Theory	13
The End of Sustainable Competitive Advantages	16

# Table of Contents

Modern-Day Sustainable Competitive Advantages	17
Global Sustainable Competitive Advantages	19
The Goals of Using Resource-Based Theory Practices	21
Knowledge Management for Sustainable Competitive Advantages	22
Capabilities for Achieving Sustainable Competitive Advantages	
Best Resources for Achieving Sustainable Competitive Advantages	34
Importance of Small Businesses	35
Small Business Technology	37
Background of Customer Relationship Management	43
Summary	51
Transition	52
Section 2: The Project	53
Purpose Statement	53
Role of the Researcher	54
Researcher's Ethics	56
Strategies for Avoiding Bias	58
Participants	59
Research Method and Design	61
Research Method	62
Research Design	64
Population and Sampling	67
Ethical Research	69

Data Collection Instruments	71
Data Collection Technique	73
Data Organization Technique	75
Data Analysis	77
Reliability and Validity	80
Reliability	81
Validity	82
Transition and Summary	87
Section 3: Application to Professional Practice and Implications for Change	88
Introduction	88
Presentation of the Findings	88
Theme 1: Customer Relationship Management	91
Theme 2: Marketing	
Theme 3: Process Improvement	100
Applications to Professional Practice	102
Implications for Social Change	103
Recommendations for Action	104
Recommendations for Further Research	105
Reflections	106
Conclusion	109
References	110
Appendix A: Interview Protocol	142

Appendix B: Documenta	ry and Observation Protocol	
-----------------------	-----------------------------	--

# List of Tables

Table 1.	Technology Platforms	Identified During the Interview Sessions	87
----------	----------------------	--	----

#### Section 1: Foundation of the Study

Small businesses are essential to the economic growth and development of communities. Approximately 55% of jobs overall, and 66% of newly created positions, in the United States are from small businesses (Small Business Administration [SBA], 2014). Therefore, small businesses are crucial to the U.S. economy (Anastasia, 2015). Decker et al. (2014) noted, however, that small businesses have a high failure rate and that business failure within the first 5 years accounts for the loss of approximately 50% of the jobs created. Selection and adoption of technology are two ways that small retail business (SRB) owners can avoid business failure and achieve increased competitiveness (Curry et al., 2017). Some of the technologies that SRB owners can adopt to prevent business failures include computers, software, networking devices, telephone systems, accounting systems, inventory control systems, point of sale (POS) systems, and customer relationship management (CRM) systems (MacKechnie, 2017). The availability of various technologies supports the idea that SRB owners should develop and implement an approach for selecting the appropriate technology to foster competitive advantages. My goal in conducting this study was to better understand the strategies some SRB owners adopt to select the appropriate technology to improve their competitiveness.

#### **Background of the Problem**

Although there has been an increase in technology utilization by consumers, some SRB owners still fail to develop a strategy for selecting the appropriate technology to improve their business competitiveness. Curry et al. (2017) indicated that some SRB owners fail to achieve sustainable competitive advantages (SCAs) due to a lack of investment in updated technology. Competitive advantages occur when business owners enjoy competitive opportunities not afforded to rival business owners (Coyne, 1986). For example, an event planner in the U.S. state of New Jersey might enjoy competitive advantages planning events in the New Jersey area over a Chicago-based event planner planning events in New Jersey. The New Jersey-based event planner might have access to vendors and relationships not afforded to the Chicago-based event planner or puts the Chicago-based event planner at a cost disadvantage. The topic of technology utilization among SRB owners is essential because only a small portion of small business owners invest in technology innovation (Faran & Chaudhry, 2016). Faran and Chaudhry (2016) observed that only 22% of small business owners invested in new technology research to increase competitive advantages. SRBs account for many businesses in the United States (Anastasia, 2015); therefore, it is vital to resolve the high business failure rate among SRBs to maintain economic stability. In conducting this study, I sought to build upon the prior research on SRB owners' technology utilization. The findings of this study may help SRB owners identify strategies they can adopt to improve technology utilization to achieve SCAs.

#### **Problem Statement**

Unsuccessful SRB owners sometimes fail to achieve SCAs due to a lack of investment in updated technology (Hussein et al., 2017). The U.S. Chamber of Commerce surveyed 1,000 small business owners and reported that 57% of these businesses struggle to remain competitive due to owners' lack of familiarity with digital tools (U.S. Chamber of Commerce, 2018). The general business problem is that SRB owners who do not invest in new technology to achieve SCAs may experience business failures. The specific business problem is that some SRB owners lack strategies to select the appropriate technology to achieve SCAs.

# **Purpose Statement**

The purpose of this qualitative multiple case study was to explore the strategies SRB owners use to select the appropriate technology to achieve SCAs. The target population for this qualitative multiple case study consisted of seven to 10 SRB owners in the U.S. state of New Jersey who have successfully adopted strategies to select the appropriate technology to achieve SCAs. The implications for positive social change include the potential to identify strategies and knowledge that SRB owners can use to facilitate communication and business transactions leading to gains in efficiency and competitiveness. This study's information may also help to improve consumers' appreciation of SRB owners' products or services and their satisfaction as customers.

#### Nature of the Study

The three research methods available to researchers are quantitative, qualitative, and mixed methods. I used the qualitative method to explore the what, why, and how of the research problem, which was a lack of knowledge of strategies successful SRB owners use to select the appropriate technology to achieve SCAs (see Yin, 2018). M. N. K. Saunders et al. (2015) noted that researchers use the quantitative method to generate numerical data through various data collection techniques, such as questionnaires and surveys, which are then statistically analyzed.

The quantitative method was not appropriate for this study because the data gathering and analysis plan did not include the use of numerical data to measure the relationship between variables. The mixed-method approach combines the qualitative and quantitative methods and is used to investigate complex research questions (Taguchi, 2018). Because I did not use the quantitative method, the mixed-method approach was not appropriate. I used the qualitative research method because I could not easily separate the research phenomenon from the research context. The qualitative research method provides a holistic description of the research phenomenon, emphasizing the social settings to understand better the research subject's thoughts and behavior (Cazan 2012). Hence the qualitative research method was best suited for this study.

There are different types of qualitative research designs, such as narrative, phenomenological, ethnographic, and case study design. Researchers use narrative designs to explore people's life experiences through written or spoken accounts of these individuals (Coffey & Atkinson, 1996). The narrative research design was not appropriate for this study because the data gathering efforts did not include exploring the participants' life experiences. Focusing on the participant's life experiences involves understanding the participant's life encounters. Hence the narrative research design was not appropriate for this study because the focus of this study was understanding the strategies successful business owners use to select the right technology to achieve SCA. Waters (2016) stated that the phenomenological design goal is to understand the meaning of an experience, behavior, or narrative. Phenomenological researchers explore the meanings of the participants' lived experiences related to the phenomenon under study. I did not explore the meanings of lived experiences; therefore, a phenomenological design was not appropriate for this study. Cunliffe (2010) indicated that the ethnographic research design includes embedded researchers who live among their research subjects to observe and account for their shared beliefs, behavior rituals, language, and interactions. The ethnographic design was inappropriate for this study because I did explore beliefs, rituals, languages, and interactions of participants as part of my research design. Instead, I focused on how several small business owners developed or executed their technology selection strategy to achieve SCAs.

Saunders et al. (2015) described the case study design as an in-depth review of a topic or phenomenon within its real-life setting. Gustafson (2017) stated that the difference between a single case study and a multiple case study is that in the latter, the researcher studies numerous cases to understand the differences and similarities between each case. Yin (2018) also noted that when researchers use multiple case studies, they can analyze within and across various situations. A single case study design did not fit the purpose of this study because it limits the potential to gather data from multiple sources. The qualitative multiple case study design was ideal for this research study because I interviewed various SRB owners to understand the strategies business owners used to select the appropriate technology to increase their businesses' competitiveness.

#### **Research Question**

What strategies do SRB owners use to select the appropriate technology to achieve SCAs?

# **Interview Questions**

- 1. How receptive are you to utilizing technology in your daily business operations?
- 2. What strategies do you use to mitigate the impact of outdated technology on your retail organizations' competitiveness?
- 3. How do you determine if your current or updated technology helps create value to achieve SCAs?
- 4. How does your technology help differentiate your products or service from competitors' products or services?
- 5. How does your technology or technology strategy help your business evolve as the market changes?
- 6. How do you limit your competitors' ability to enjoy the advantages your technology strategy provides?
- 7. What other information would you like to share in this interview?

## **Conceptual Framework**

The conceptual framework for this study was the resource-based theory (RBT). Barney developed the RBT in 1991. The RBT is a managerial framework that allows individuals to identify the strategic resources capable of delivering competitive advantages (Edwards et al., 2015). Business owners can apply RBT concepts strategically to their organizational goals to achieve SCAs. Edwards et al. (2015) reported that the RBT's fundamental constructs are value, rareness, imitability, and organizational nonsubstitutable resources (VRIO). Edwards et al. noted that a firm's resources are valuable because the business owner can use those resources to build strategies that take advantage of opportunities and defend against threats. A firm's offering is rare when the firm's products or services are significantly different from competitors' offerings. Edwards et al. stated that some resources might be difficult to imitate due to constant evolution and legal restrictions. In addition, Edwards et al. asserted that a resource is nonsubstitutable when competitors cannot find other ways to enjoy the advantages that a resource provides. SRB owners can consider each construct of the RBT when selecting the technology that may help their business achieve SCAs. Therefore, I used the RBT as a potential lens to explore how SRB owners use the RBT constructs to aid the selection of the appropriate technology to achieve SCAs.

#### **Operational Definitions**

*Business strategy*: A set of procedures or strategies that sets a business up for success (Li et al., 2014).

*Competitive advantage*: A firm's achievement of higher profits in the market over the competitors (Dyer et al., 2017).

*Resource-based theory*: A firm's resources and capabilities, such as the physical, human, financial, tangible, and intangible assets used to develop business strategies (Balashova & Gromova, 2016).

*Resources*: The inputs that help an organization's daily operation (Amit & Schoemaker, 2012).

*Small business*: An independently owned or operated business with 500 or fewer employees (Hayes et al., 2015).

*Sustainable competitive advantages*: An integrated set of actions that affords business owners better competitive opportunities than their competition (Coyne, 1986).

# Assumptions, Limitations, and Delimitations

The following are a few identified assumptions, limitations, and delimitations to clarify and establish the study's central focus and parameters. The delineations may help future researchers understand the areas not covered by this qualitative multiple research study and may be worthy of future research. I also define the boundaries of this qualitative research study and explore how future studies can explain how SRB owners can use technology to improve business processes and achieve SCAs.

# Assumptions

This study includes some assumptions to establish and ensure the research's quality. Roy and Pacuit (2013) defined assumptions as uncorroborated notions that the researcher believes to be true. The following are the assumptions of this study: (a) the participants will provide honest responses to the interview questions, (b) the participants will remain focused on the research topic and will reveal relevant information, and (c) the SRB owners will be knowledgeable about the information technology activities in their organization. The assumptions positively affected my interaction with the participants. I went into each interview assuming I had the ideal participant capable of providing valuable data in a focused, truthful, and relevant way. Hence the participants and I developed a good rapport that facilitated useful data gathering.

# Limitations

I limited the study in some areas to ensure study credibility and transferability. Kirkwood and Price (2013) described limitations as the potential weaknesses or gaps of a research study. The following are the limitations of this study: (a) the scope of the study was limited to gathering information only from successful SRB owners in the New Jersey area and did not include unsuccessful SRB owners as participants, and (b) the study sample size was limited to seven participants to ensure data saturation. Restricting the sample size to a few SRB owners in New Jersey may impact the transferability of the research conclusions. Robinson (2014) noted that a study's result might vary based on the sample size. However, by focusing on a few SRB owners, I was able to gather reliable data to understand their technology selection process. I also analyzed the potential benefits or costs of the technology selection process concerning the businesses' competitiveness.

## Delimitations

To focus data-gathering efforts and better elicit valuable information, I imposed some delimitations on the study. Gijo et al. (2014) stated that delimitations are boundaries or limits that a researcher includes in their study. The following are the delimitations of this study: (a) the participants were selected from the New Jersey area, and (b) the scope of the study was limited to seven to 10 SRB owners in the New Jersey area. I continued to recruit and interview participants until I reached achieving data saturation. The large concentration of SRBs in the New Jersey area led to the decision to focus on New Jersey SRB owners. Limiting the number of businesses in the study may have restricted my ability to create more themes due to excluding other SRBs, large retail companies, and government retail agencies locally, nationally, and internationally.

#### Significance of the Study

The study's findings may be of significance to SRB owners in the New Jersey area who struggle to operate a competitive business because they lack strategies to select the appropriate technology to achieve SCAs. My intention in conducting the study was to create information that SRB owners can use to develop strategies to incorporate technology into their business operations to achieve SCAs. Technology is becoming undeniably vital to how transactions occur worldwide (Curry et al., 2017). Therefore, SRB owners may need to adequately evaluate, select, and deploy essential technological solutions to achieve SCAs. One useful approach involves the management of organizational resources. Theotokis et al. (2008) emphasized that the growing trend of new technology in the retail sector provides business owners the opportunity to create innovative customer support solutions.

# **Contribution to Business Practice**

The study findings' beneficial ramifications include the potential to contribute to SRB owners' understanding of how to develop strategies for adopting technology that may help them maintain SCAs over a long duration. The study may help SRB owners in the New Jersey area understand the importance of assessing outdated technology's impact on their business venture's success. This study's findings may prompt more SRB owners to develop strategies for selecting new technologies to improve their competitiveness. Faran and Chaudhry (2016) determined that only 22% of retail business owners invested in learning new technology and innovation through their research and development. SRB owners may use findings from this qualitative multiple case study to develop a strategy to identify, select, and implement new technology based on practices associated with the RBT. Knowing the impact that technology may have on a company's success can help SRB owners plan towards achieving SCAs.

# **Implications for Social Change**

This study may provide information that SRB owners can use to build a healthier and more prosperous retail industry. Agnihotri (2016) stated that business owners' focus should be on innovative solutions that may help their firms achieve SCAs. This study's findings could positively contribute strategies and knowledge that retailers can use to facilitate communication and consumer transactions. Implementation of these strategies could allow retailers to be more efficient and competitive, which could boost local economies. Insights about small business competitiveness could aid the growth and development of business entrepreneurs and companies. Potential benefits for consumers include a greater appreciation of SRB owners' products or services and improved customer satisfaction.

## A Review of the Professional and Academic Literature

Researchers gather information from dissertations and published peer-reviewed articles to understand and explore the research phenomenon during the literature review. A literature review is an effort of authors to bridge the knowledge gap (Pejić-Bach & Cerpa, 2019). The goal of conducting a literature review is to provide the audience with information about the participant's views, the critical areas of debate, and the unresolved research questions (Pejić-Bach & Cerpa, 2019). In composing the literature review for this study, I sought to (a) evaluate the body of knowledge on the topic, (b) identify gaps and potential biases, and (c) add to the collection of knowledge regarding the research topic. The literature review also includes an overview of the study's conceptual framework, the RBT. The information in the literature review furthers understanding of the strategies SRB owners use to select the appropriate technology to achieve SCAs.

# Literature Review Organization

The literature review consists of the following 26 sections and subsections:

- the resource-based theory
- the end of SCAs
- modern-day SCAs
- short-term and long-term competitive advantages
- global SCAs
- the goal of RBT
- knowledge management (KM) for SCAs
- learning in KM
- strategy creation after KM learning
- capabilities for achieving SCAs
- resources for achieving SCAs
- capabilities from a resource exchange perspective
- dynamic capabilities
- the three aspects of dynamic capabilities

- best resources for achieving SCAs
- importance of small businesses
- impact of small businesses on the economy
- small business technology
- small business retail technology
- small business CRM technology
- CRM background
- CRM support functions and capabilities
- CRM study constructs and RBT constructs
- CRM and market turbulence versus technology turbulence
- CRM technology
- CRM study summary

The sources used in the literature review section were mainly peer-reviewed articles retrieved from ABI/INFORM Complete, Sage, ResearchGate, Business Source Complete/Premier ProQuest databases, Emerald, and Management Journals. I also used Walden University's online library to find Walden dissertations and search for peer-reviewed articles. The literature review contained 81 references, with 62 references published within the past 5 years, representing 77%, and 77 from scholarly peer-reviewed sources, representing 93%.

# **The Resource-Based Theory**

The RBT helps business owners understand what and how organizational resources impact the potential to achieve SCAs. The theory maintains that the

achievement of SCAs occurs when resources conform with the VRIO framework (Gutiérrez-Martínez & Duhamel, 2019). SRB owners are looking for competitive advantage sources that are difficult for rivals to achieve (Shammot, 2014). Gutiérrez-Martínez and Duhamel (2019) noted that resources are valuable when they enable small business owners to exploit external opportunities or minimize external threats. Gutiérrez-Martínez and Duhamel stated that resources that originate from the external environment are usually not helpful in creating competitive advantages because competitors are likely to access the same resource. Resources that a few competing companies control are imperfectly imitable when the means to develop or obtain those resources are costly (Kozlenkova et al., 2014). When resources are valuable, rare, and difficult to imitate, exploiting the resources can result in competitive advantages. However, Gutiérrez-Martínez and Duhamel asserted that business owners should possess the infrastructure to realize the resources' full competitive potential.

Organizational resources should have the VRIO attributes to support the firm's SCAs objectives. The VRIO model includes a firm's ability to gain competitive advantages through physical, human, and organizational support (Almada & Borges, 2018). Specific resources might be more important for achieving SCAs compared to other resources. Vargas-Hernández and Francia (2019) indicated that human resources are as the most significant factor for business owners seeking to realize competitive advantages. Therefore, managers should know how different resources affect achieving SCAs. Practices based on the RBT support managers in identifying which resources and skills may or may not be sources of SCAs (Machado et al., 2017).

There are some questions business owners might consider when determining which resources are critical for their organization to achieve SCAs. As Machado et al. (2017) noted, these questions include the following: Does a small number of competitors control the resources?; Is there a cost disadvantage for companies that do not have such resources?; and Do the company's policies and procedures support the exploitation of valuable, scarce, and costly-to-imitate resources?

In prior studies, researchers identified organizational resources as essential to a firm's success. However, it was not until the 1980s that the RBT of the firm began to take shape (Kozlenkova et al., 2014). Machado et al. (2017) described the *resource-based view*, a term often used interchangeably with *RBT*, as a perspective that explains business owners' strategic behavior through their organizations. Machado et al. based their assumptions on the idea that the selection, acquisition, and disposition of resources can result in competitive advantages. Machado et al. also stated that the growth of unique skills or processes that are challenging to imitate could result in competitive advantages over competitors and differentiation from competitors. Similarly, Gutiérrez-Martínez and Duhamel (2019) argued that organizational leadership tends to be more competitive when they exploit strengths and overcome weaknesses through practices based on the VRIO framework.

The RBT became prevalent in the early 1990s during the technological revolution. Barney developed the RBT in 1991. An idea that existed before the RBT was the concept of industry-level factors being the determinant of each firm's profit potential (Porter, 1979). Barney (1991) was one of many authors who helped develop the RBT into what it is today. Barney and a few other scholars asserted that organizational leadership achieves a better result by developing rare, hard to imitate, and valuable skills and resources. Barney developed the framework of the core tenets and essential attributes of resources and competitive advantages. Although the market environment has evolved significantly since 1991, the RBT concept has maintained its relevance. Kozlenkova et al. (2014) noted that research on the application or invocation of the RBT in marketing practices has increased by 500% in the last decade.

#### The End of Sustainable Competitive Advantages

Various researchers have argued that achieving SCAs in any highly competitive market environment is impossible. For example, Sigalas and Papadakis (2018) emphasized that a firm's ability to achieve competitive advantages does not necessarily mean the firm will experience superior performance. Bashir and Verma (2017) argued that in the current technologically advanced society, the assumptions about the strategies underlying the theory of competitive advantage are obsolete. Day (2014) asserted that the concept of RBT helping to achieve SCAs is no longer applicable. Day further endorsed the antiquity of the idea that SCAs occur when resources conform with the VRIO framework. Day presented a distinct idea of the RBT leading to the achievement of SCAs when some resources such as brands and customer relationships are nurtured in all environments to ensure that the corporate brand maintains relevance.

Business owners should continually review and re-strategize resources to ensure progress towards the organizational goal of achieving SCAs. Day (2014) stated that establishing a firm's strategy for SCAs is irrelevant for most companies today. Bashir and Instead of focusing on exploiting value from competitive advantages, companies should emphasize the innovative ability to create and reconfigure value in business processes (Verma, 2017). Similarly, Day described SCAs as short-lived goals that need renewal frequently. In an evolutionary market environment, firm leaders need to continually reconfigure themselves, adapt, and renew advantages (Day, 2014). Furthermore, Day noted that it is through reconfiguration that assets that business entrepreneurs and capabilities evolve from one position to another.

## **Modern-Day Sustainable Competitive Advantages**

The modern-day strategies for achieving SCAs require periodic evaluation of short-term plans to realize competitive advantages that promotes business success and sustainable growth. Machado et al. (2017) held a similar view to Day (2014) about the importance of SCAs. However, Machado et al. analyzed the relationship between the complex concept of sustainability and the criteria that define a project's success. Business owners may need to understand the difference between sustainability and success as they respond to competitive pressure. Machado et al. noted that due to the globalized market in which most firms operate, in which changes happen quickly, technology develops continuously, and consumerism is the new norm, there is increasingly severe competition between organizations. The author further indicated that organizational leaders often need to focus on strategic management to establish a competitive organizational attitude due to heightened competition. A conclusion is that is achieving SCAs may depend on how resources are developed and used.

The concept of SCAs is directly related to business owners using their resources so that similar businesses are unable to replicate. Kozlenkova et al. (2014) specified that practices based on the resource-based logic rely on two fundamental assumptions about firm-based resources to explain how they help generate SCAs and why some firms may consistently outperform others. The first assumption by Kozlenkova et al. was that many firms possess different bundles of resources. Kozlenkova et al. determined that resource heterogeneity assumptions imply some firms may be better skilled in accomplishing certain activities because they possess unique resources. The second assumption by Kozlenkova et al. was that the difficulties of trading resources across firms may allow the benefit of the resources persist over time, which may help achieve SCAs.

Achieving SCAs is not limited to how organizational leaders manage and use organizational resources. The main idea of the practices based on the resource-based logic is that leading firms can generate SCAs when they own valuable resources that some firms do not have or find costly or challenging to emulate (Barney & Hesterly, 2012). However, Kozlenkova et al. (2014) reported that with these two assumptions satisfied, not all resources are potential sources of SCAs. Therefore, business owners need to understand the differences between an organization's resources and capabilities.

#### Short-Term and Long-Term Competitive Advantages

As the research on VRIO practices and firms' achievement of SCAs indicates, organizations' resources and capabilities should be continuously developed in alignment with the core tenets of the VRIO framework to realize the short-term and long-term advantages. Short- and long-term goals on remaining competitive, valuable, or relevant are especially crucial due to external pressure in a global market environment (Bashir & Verma, 2017). Assensoh-Kodua (2019) noted that the growing turmoil in the external organizational setting or business environment had directed attention to capabilities and resources as the primary source of competitive advantages. Assensoh-Kodua suggested that practices based on the RBT play an essential role and assist organizational leaders in creating, nurturing, and maintaining competitive advantages and knowing the collective resources needed to compete favorably in a globalized and highly competitive market.

#### **Global Sustainable Competitive Advantages**

Globalization and the advent of technology have reconfigured the market space and intensified the impact of competitive forces on business owners' success. Bashir and Verma (2017) and Day (2014) mainly argued against the idea that firms can only achieve SCAs when organizational resources follow VRIO practices. In other words, Bashir and Verma and Day did not appear to believe in the idea of attaining SCAs or resources helping an organization to remain competitive over a long period. Instead, they concluded that resources need to evolve continuously and create value for an organization to be competitive over a short period. Although debatable, this argument is significant when thinking about competition from a global perspective. Some critical questions may be as follows: How can business owners achieve SCAs in a worldwide market where it is easy to imitate and acquire resources? and How can businesses achieve SCAs when satisfaction may be relatively affordable from competitors due to the availability of technology and other external forces? The effects of globalization impact businesses everywhere. Therefore, SRB owners should realize that they compete with local, physically established companies and virtual global organizations. Assensoh-Kodua (2019) asserted that the advent of technology might have fostered globalization, which has forced firms to constantly innovate better ways to thrive and survive in a more competitive environment. The author's idea is similar to Bashir and Verma's (2017) and Day's (2014) argument in favor of constant and continuous innovation to achieve competitive advantages. Globalization is arguably one of the leading phenomena in recent years that have impacted society, business life, and the economy in multiple ways.

Globalization impacts both small and large business owners around the world. Asssensoh-Kodua (2019) emphasized that globalization has brought in more competition among industry players. For example, a local barber in a small community might suddenly have a high demand for a particular hairstyle because the hairstyle is a social trend that started from another country. Suppose the barber is up to date because of social media or other sources. In that case, the barber can take early advantage of the trend locally by marketing the ability to provide the haircut at affordable rates. However, no barber locally or globally can achieve SCAs by giving the haircut service to customers because other barbers may quickly acquire the skill, and the trend is bound to efface with time. Assensoh-Kodua noted that organizational leaders should learn to design better sustainable strategies to outsmart their competitors and thrive in the market. The author also reported that competition might impact various aspects of the business on a macroeconomic level, ranging from the target market, price, and cost of service or product to technology adaptation. Therefore, the experience of what works and the development of knowledge is essential for achieving competitive advantages.

#### The Goals of Using Resource-Based Theory Practices

Achieving SCAs might require constant changes in firm resources to operate optimally and achieve business goals. The goal of using the RBT practices is to achieve SCAs (Gutiérrez-Martínez & Duhamel, 2019). Hanfan et al. (2019) agreed that competitive advantages exist when a firm in an industry can leverage its skills and abilities to achieve success in a way other firms cannot, distinguishing a company from its competitors. For business owners to achieve SCAs, they may need to create and manage policies and strategies to leverage existing resources. Achieving SCAs requires organizational leaders to embed resources and capabilities through appropriate control systems and human resources policies and practices (Gutiérrez-Martínez & Duhamel, 2019).

Making constant changes to optimize firm resources requires proficient business management skills. Gutiérrez-Martínez and Duhamel (2019) asserted that based on the RBT propositions, business owners achieve SCAs when they effectively manage resources. Godwin-Opara (2016) indicated that small business owners could realize competitive advantages by leveraging valuable resources. Resources are useful if they help small business owners implement strategies that lower costs or increase revenues (Kozlenkova et al., 2014). Suppose a firm is to achieve SCAs in the market environment; in that case, business owners may need to develop strategies that ensure resources are continually improving to take advantage of opportunities when available.

#### **Knowledge Management for Sustainable Competitive Advantages**

For business owners to manage their resources to support achieving SCAs, they must have business knowledge and must be able to apply it effectively. Assensoh-Kodua (2019) defined knowledge as what business entrepreneurs understand about strategies, concepts, ideas, theories, procedures, and practices. Practices based on KM strategies can help an organization's human resources align strategically with the concept of RBT, which could lead to achieving SCAs. Arraya and Porfírio (2017) noted that human resources encompasses the ability to integrate, develop, and reconfigure internal and external capabilities. When resources are scarce, an organization's human resources may be vital for competitiveness (Greer et al., 2015). Knowledge gathering and management refer to the internal and external forces that can lead to competitive advantages.

External factors could also impact the quality of business knowledge. Assensoh-Kodua (2019) identified globalization, politics, legislation, and global economic pressure as examples of factors in the external business environment that affect how businesses perform. Therefore, business owners need to understand their external environment and leverage such knowledge to achieve SCAs. An organization's capabilities may primarily depend on the firm's ability to blend core skills creatively within and outside the firm. How organizational leaders use the information gathered internally and externally is by definition KM. In conclusion, when a business owner operates a successful KM procedure, it facilitates process improvement that can aid the firm's competitiveness.

Business owners should develop a plan to improve business knowledge quality and availability. Assensoh-Kodua (2019) argued that business owners might need to have a KM strategy to improve their organization's human resources capabilities to achieve SCAs. Garg et al. (2018) described knowledge as what individuals know and how they use what they know. Creating intellectual business owners that are more flexible than their competitors is the main idea of developing and implementing business strategies based on the RBT (Jardón et al., 2018). Similarly, Laihonen and Mäntylä (2018) stated that a holistic KM strategy promotes the use of performance information by providing a systematic management framework for gathering and utilizing the information, which could help organizations achieve competitive advantages. Business owners should not consider knowledge as something that business entrepreneurs have but rather as something they can acquire over time (Blackler, 1995). Additionally, Assensoh-Kodua said that hiring and developing a talented workforce and extending an organization's skills base may be ways business owners can achieve SCAs. Some methods of strengthening a team's capacity and effectiveness include sharing ideas and experiences, constructing group identity, and understanding the dynamics of interpersonal relationships and individual strengths and weaknesses (Arraya and Porfírio, 2017). Hence, small business owners might achieve SCAs when they share and build on information about their technology selection strategy within and outside their organization.

Improving the quality of business knowledge might involve practices associated with employee hiring and development within an organization. Since an organization may use knowledge via its human resources to achieve SCAs, most organizations' challenge is to make sure that they can locate, integrate, compensate, and keep the gifted employees they need (Davis, 2017). Assensoh-Kodua (2019) asserted that knowledge in itself is not what matters to organizational leadership, but how the learning is applied to achieve the strategic objectives for competitive advantages. Therefore, knowledge is a component of the RBT practices that can help coordinate resources following the VRIO standards to generate SCAs.

The use of information communication technology (ICT) may be one of many ways to support an organization's KM system. Just like KM, ICT is a tool that can help refine organizational resources in a way that may help achieve SCAs. Assensoh-Kodua (2019) discussed the possibility of using ICT to transform a firm's goal of attaining competitive advantages, given the plethora of information available to firms nowadays. However, the author also encouraged business owners to consider information technology primarily as a means of communication rather than a substitute for RBT practices to achieve competitive advantages. Assensoh-Kodua asserted that an organization's operational, technical, and practical knowledge could be stored in databases and found in reports, libraries, policy documents, manuals, and presentations. The author also stated that storing and sharing knowledge is an example of how technology can support KM, helping businesses achieve SCAs.

## Learning in Knowledge Management

A critical element of KM is learning. Assensoh-Kodua (2019) stipulated that organizational leadership must embark on learning for innovations and competitive advantages when processes occur in organizations, including interaction and networking with internal and external stakeholders. The keyword is learning for competitive advantage. It is essential to learn how the business environment impacts the potentials for SCAs and how to allocate resources to achieve SCAs. Assensoh-Kodua advocated that learning involves investigating the source of problems, challenging assumptions, beliefs, norms, and decisions making.

Market turbulence is not entirely a negative situation for business owners to encounter because it may lead to learning new things or ways of achieving SCAs. Assensoh-Kodua (2019) explained that a firm might survive and start the journey towards competitiveness when the firm has learned something new about what to achieve while experiencing turbulent events. Assensoh-Kodua further discussed the importance of converting the lesson learned into action by deciding how to react, which may help increase the business activities' competitiveness. Determining how to respond to the lessons learned might be considered a strategy creation process. In other words, Assensoh-Kodua implied that firms need to learn new trends and develop action-oriented strategies to position resources and capabilities to take advantage of changes in market trends. Repeating the learning and action process may help achieve SCAs because resources are continually optimized to satisfy the VRIO ideology of the practices based on the RBT.

## Strategy Creation After Knowledge Management Learning

An organization's internal resources are vital to how the firm responds to external and internal pressure that impacts the achievement of SCAs. For organizational leaders to face the ever-evolving trends in the external business environment, as indicated by Ajmera (2017), they should focus efforts on their internal resources and capabilities as the primary source of strength to survive and gain competitive advantages (de los Santos & Zanca, 2018). Therefore, business owners might need to develop a strategy to achieve SCAs. Rockwell (2019) expressed the importance of creating new strategies based on the RBT practices to balance the exploitation of existing resources and the development of new ones.

Business owners should develop or reconfigure their strategy after learning a new lesson that could lead to achieving SCAs. When organizational leaders have learned from external and internal sources, the next step is to develop a strategy that helps realize financial value. Assensoh-Kodua (2019) contended that organizational leaders must first use their internal resources effectively and develop new resources to remain competitive. Considering the RBT from an internal perspective, the assumption is that most organizational capabilities lead to the path of profitability (Machado et al., 2017). Additionally, a company's competitiveness depends on both the organization's pace and the company's intellectual capital (Machado et al., 2017).

## **Resources for Achieving Sustainable Competitive Advantages**

Business owners should identify and classify organizational resources in the right category. The word "resource" refers to something organizational leaders can draw on to accomplish their goals (Kozlenkova et al., 2014). Similarly, Ferreira et al. (2018) reported that business entrepreneurs gather resources to accommodate, overcome, or survive threats. Examples of material resources include money or sources related to social status or social support (Ferreira et al., 2018). On that account, Lim et al. (2017)

identified five categories of firm resources: (a) physical resources, (b) financial resources, (c) technological resources, (d) human resources, and (e) organizational resources.

The financial resources impact the business owners' ability to implement strategies to achieve SCAs. Machado et al. (2017) described financial resources as the capital organizational leaders use to produce and shape their strategies. Financial resources could be obtained externally through investors, shareholders, creditors, and banks (Machado et al., 2017). Furthermore, Machado et al. (2017) stated that capital from profit and personal contribution are examples of internal revenue sources. Machado et al. further explained the characteristics of physical resources as the materials used by organizational operations, including machinery and equipment. Physical resources require periodic maintenance to ensure optimal operation. Hence, one of the factors required to achieve SCAs is the periodic maintenance of the physical resources of an organization.

Machado et al. (2017) further asserted that individual resources include tools used to improve personal skills. Business leader could use improved interpersonal skills to lead organizational processes concerning employees and managers at all levels (Machado et al., 2017). Such interpersonal skills may also affect employee morale and motivation, which can help the organization achieve SCAs. Machado et al. theorized that corporate resources are typically involved in the formal or informal systems of planning, controlling, and coordinating organizational business activities. Therefore, to achieve SCAs, small business owners might need to leverage all avenues available to develop and improve individual leadership and management skills. The management of intangible resources may affect how business leaders use tangible resources to achieve SCAs. El Ebrashi (2018) reported that intangible resources such as human capital, formal and informal relations, organizational culture, knowledge, reputation, skills, and competencies are essential for gaining competitive advantages. Although an organization's external resources can aid the achievement of SCAs, Barney (1991) chose to focus on how the internal resources of an organization can help achieve SCAs. Similarly, Bhat and Darzi (2018) stated that other theorists and scholars had emphasized the importance of leveraging scarce resources to create and maintain value for a firm's customers. Since an organization's internal resources might be harder to replicate or imitate (Barney, 1991), Machado et al. (2017) noted that based on the RBT practices and the VRIO ideology, resources for attaining competitive advantages might exist within the organization.

## **Capabilities for Achieving Sustainable Competitive Advantages**

Organizational capabilities are the firm's propensity to achieve specific goals based on tangible and intangible resources internally and externally located. Capabilities are generally information-based, tangible, or intangible processes that may allow a firm to deploy its resources more efficiently and enhance those resources' productivity (Kozlenkova et al., 2014). Therefore, Furnival et al. (2018) described improvement capability as a firm's ability to deliberately and methodically use development approaches, methods, and practices, to modify processes and products/services to produce improved performance. If a resource is valuable, rare, and imperfectly imitable, the exchange should be organized and managed in a way that allows for the exploitation of the resource's potential (Kozlenkova et al., 2014). Hence, Kozlenkova et al. (2014) noted that inadequate skills, processes, and policies could undermine the potential profit from the exchange of valuable, rare, and difficult to imitate resources. Similarly, Barney (2002) pointed out that the organization's capabilities are a subset of its resources, helping to complete and control other resources.

How a business owner strategically configures and deploys organizational resources indicates the organization's resource capabilities. Barney (1991) described resources as anything that has an enabling capacity. Factors that have enabling ability could be internally or externally located and may help businesses achieve SCAs. Barney indicated that a firm is said to have competitive advantages when implementing valuecreating strategies that differ from other competitors. Barney further asserted that a firm might experience competitive advantages by implementing strategies that prevent competitors' potential profit duplication. On that account, Barney stated that top firms could generally protect their competitive advantages if their resources are treasured, unusual, matchless, and nonsubstitutable.

## Capabilities From a Resource Exchange Perspective

The exchange of a firms' VRIO resources can help determine the firms' capabilities that may help achieve SCAs. Peteraf and Barney (2003) described RBT at the exchange level of analysis as a natural business evolution that attempts to explain the variation in profitability rates as a factor of different analysis levels. The different analysis levels include the industry level, the business group level, and the business level or firm level (Peteraf & Barney, 2003). Similarly, Kozlenkova et al. (2014) described the

exchange level of analysis as the process of understanding the differences in firm performance based on how the firms exchange resources with other firms operating in the same marketplace. The industry level, firm-level, or exchange level of variables are different ways to view the exchange level of analysis (Kozlenkova et al., 2014). The exchange level of analysis is an important concept to understand when considering how to combine resources to help achieve SCAs.

At the exchange level, organizational RBT practices help business owners understand the tradeoffs that may occur when specific resources are optimized. Kozlenkova et al. (2014) presented a perspective that evaluates the use of RBT practices at the exchange level of analysis. Additionally, Kozlenkova et al. assessed practices associated with VRIO resources to determine how they can help generate SCAs at the exchange level. Therefore, Kozlenkova et al. also evaluated practices associated with the VRIO resources to identify and describe any required adaptations. It appears valid for researchers to use RBT practices at the exchange level of analysis because using RBT methods at the exchange level satisfies the assumptions and parallels present in understanding the resource-based logic developed and tested at the firm level (Kozlenkova et al. 2014). For firms to use practices associated with the RBT at an exchange level to achieve SCAs, they may need to make changes and leverage resources that other firms do not have or cannot imitate.

## **Dynamic Capabilities**

Firm owners' capacity to understand and quickly adjust to their fast changing markets may ultimately depend on their adaptive capabilities. Day (2014) argued in favor

of a firm's resources' dynamic capabilities helping to achieve SCAs in a way that conforms to the practices associated with the VRIO resources. The author stated that dynamic capabilities are factors that business owners may use to create, adjust, and keep relevant stocks of skills. Likewise, Kozlenkova et al. (2014) reported that dynamic capabilities are a category of resources that may enable organizational fitness and help shape the environment advantageously.

Business owners should understand how to configure resources to achieve SCAs dynamically. Day (2014) listed three ways that dynamic capabilities can help business owners achieve SCAs. The first point Day conveyed was that an organization's dynamic capabilities could help business owners sense organizational threats or opportunities. Second, Day reported that dynamic capabilities could help business owners respond to changes by combining and transforming available resources. Additionally, Day asserted that organizational resources could be combined or modified in new and different ways to help achieve SCAs. Business owners may have to make changes as needed to support their organization's dynamic capabilities. Furthermore, Day noted that dynamic capabilities could also help business owners identify and add new resources through alliance partnerships or acquisitions. Finally, dynamic capabilities could help business owners select the organizational configuration and business model for delivering economic value to customers (Day, 2014). Similarly, dynamic capabilities could help business owners capture economic profits (Teece, 2009).

The business owner might have to accommodate flexibility in the decisionmaking protocol to manage an organization's dynamic capabilities correctly. Day (2014) stated that a dynamic capability is not an impromptu solution to a problem, but a repeatable and deeply embedded set of skills and knowledge exercised through processes. Similarly, de los Santos and Zanca (2018) addressed the need for an environmental analysis of strengths, weaknesses, opportunities, and threats (SWOT) due to the external environment's turbulence. Hence, a complete understanding of the sources of a firm's competitive advantages might require the analysis of its internal strengths and weaknesses, which is similar to the RBT ideology (Assensoh-Kodua, 2019). Additionally, companies can gain competitive advantages by obtaining and sustaining valuable strategic resources and developing competencies and capabilities (Batko, 2017).

When business owners are flexible and focused on their dynamic capabilities, they can learn new operating ways to achieve SCAs. Lee and Yoo (2019) listed IBM as an example of an organization that used their dynamic capabilities to learn better ways of serving their customers' needs. IBM used its existing technology competencies to transform from a product-oriented company to a customer-solutions oriented company (Lee and Yoo, 2019). Similarly, Ling Florence et al. (2018) noted that resource management's task is to improve and fully exploit substantial resources to meet customer needs and increase returns on investment. In the example provided, IBM's management deployed its human resources to connect with its end users. Day (2014) specified that dynamic capabilities might emphasize internal efficiencies, which are the resources of an organization, Teece (2009) emphasized the importance of defining managerial traits, management systems, and organizational designs. Improving internal efficiencies may keep the organization alert to opportunities and threats, enabling the firm to execute on new opportunities and continuously strive to achieve their best.

In addition to dynamic capabilities, organizational leaders also need adaptive skills for their resources to meet the VRIO standard and thereby generate SCAs. Day (2014) asserted that the world is changing quickly; therefore, continually adding to one's skill set is highly essential. The propensity for the dynamic capabilities approaches to start the strategy quest from the inside-out inherently limits the firm's ability to anticipate rapid market shifts (Day, 2014). Therefore, Day indicated that the dynamic capabilities approach to begin the inside-out strategy quest could also temporarily limit the gain of competitive advantages when business owners identify opportunities sooner than rivals. Additionally, Day recommended that organizational leaders need to use adaptive capabilities to augment and enhance their dynamic skills by making changes from the outside-in. The combined use of dynamic and adaptive capabilities could enable a firm to adjust more quickly to fast-changing markets (Day, 2014).

The Three Aspects of Dynamic Capabilities. When business owners are focused on the organization's dynamic capabilities, the owners might achieve competitive advantages that can be sustainable when constantly restructured to achieve optimal results. Day (2014) proposed three aspects of adaptive capabilities that can help a firm adjust more quickly to fast-changing markets. The first is vigilant market learning. Day stated that attentive market learning enhances deep market insights with a warning system to anticipate market changes and unmet surface needs. The second suggestion offered by Day for quick adjustment to changing market trends is adaptive market experimentation. The author described adaptive market experimentation as continuously learning from planned experiments. Adaptive market experimentation can support learning new ways to achieve SCAs.

Business owners need to have a process of identifying market changes to make the required adjustment. Day (2014) finally suggested open marketing as a way for firms to respond quickly to fast-changing markets. Open marketing occurs when firms forge relationships with partners, closely monitoring and adjusting to market changes (Day, 2014). Examples of such market changes include new media and social networking technologies. Day speculated that organizations with a dynamic ability to reconfigure both tangible and intangible resources might be better position to enjoy the benefit of their adaptive capabilities.

## **Best Resources for Achieving Sustainable Competitive Advantages**

The internal structure and process of an organization are essential to the firm's ability to achieve SCAs. Arbi et al. (2017) emphasized that competitive advantages might originate primarily from firm resources and employee skills. Furthermore, competitive advantages might occur secondarily from the market or industry sector in which a group of organizations operates (Arbi et al., 2017). Although organizational intangible resources such as the product brand are essential to acquire SCAs, Machado et al. (2017) noted that given the fact businesses with more employees typically have more significant revenue; human resources might be essential to achieving SCAs.

Maintaining and updating an organization's physical resources could also impact the potential to achieve SCAs. The physical resources of an organization may be significant for achieving SCAs (Machado et al., 2017). The study results showed the physical resources were more notable for achieving SCAs because the participants valued the connection between the ethics and respect and code of conduct and ethics of the organization, which might impact the customer service in the organization. Machado et al. (2017) conveyed that when the physical resources are optimized, the quality of products and services offered in comparison to competitors increases.

Another factor relevant to achieving SCAs is the business's technology adoption strategies. Machado et al. (2017) reported that the question addressing employees' technical knowledge yielded the lowest result for achieving SCAs than questions about ethics and respect to members, concerns for the environment, product quality, and equipment. Therefore, employee technical competencies and efficacy sometimes impact a management's technology adoption plans. Based on the survey results, Machado et al. concluded that the organizational resources relevant to SCAs are the physical resources, human resources, and, finally, the capital resources hierarchically. Oliveira (2001) noted that using corporate resources accurately may minimize problems and maximize opportunities.

### **Importance of Small Businesses**

Small businesses provide more than half of the U.S. jobs representing half of the U.S. economic output. Data from the U.S. Census Bureau's Statistics of U.S. Businesses contended that in 2012, at least 23 million businesses without employees existed in the United States (SBA, 2012). The data also indicated that as of 2012, close to 6 million firms existed with fewer than 500 employees (SBA, 2012). Additionally, Wille et al.

(2017) noted that the data above represents at least 99% of all private-sector businesses in the United States. Furthermore, small businesses employed nearly 50% of the United States workforce and paid approximately 50% of all wages in 2013 (Wille et al., 2017).

## Impact of Small Businesses on the Economy

Small businesses are essential to the growth of the economy. Krol (2017) asserted that these businesses play an essential role in job creation, which may be a predictor of economic performance. Krol reported that some of the characteristics of uncertainty in the economy come from reducing small business employment, investment, and expansion. Similarly, Perret et al. (2017) reported that family-owned businesses, mostly small businesses, are the backbone of the U.S. economy. There are approximately 55% of jobs in the United States that fall into the category, and 66% of newly created positions are from the sector (SBA, 2014).

Small businesses account for many businesses in several states across the United States. Barclay (2019) noted that about 98% of all New York businesses fall in the small business category. Furthermore, there are approximately 451,000 such businesses across the state of New York, and more than half of New York's workforce earns a paycheck from small companies. Barclay stated that goods and services provided by small business owners in New York range from a cup of coffee to technical support to manufacturing, and collectively, small businesses have a significant impact on the economy. When small businesses in local environments succeed, such communities may grow economically (Barclay, 2019). Therefore, promoting small businesses may be a way to ensure growth in local communities, at the state as well as national level.

With all the above facts and statistics, it is clear that small businesses are indeed the U.S. economy's backbone. Therefore, if the economy is to grow, then more small businesses must survive. My aim in conducting this qualitative multiple case study was to consider the strategies for technology selection to understand the strategies SRB owners use to select the appropriate technology to achieve SCAs. Achieving SCAs is essential because the failure rate of small businesses in the United States is high. SBA statistics indicate that 20% of small businesses fail within the first two years, and 50% fail within 5 years. Snider and Davies (2017) asserted that small businesses are vital to economic growth, and their success is essential. However, the number of successful small companies is declining in the United States (SBA, 2014).

Small businesses account for a large portion of business failure. In the United States, the small business sector represents 99.7% of all businesses and accounts for 60% of net new jobs, with 75% of small companies being self-employed (SBA, 2014). The SBA data revealed that while the number of small business start-ups each year is almost 500,000, less than half survive 5 years or more. Nwabueze (2019) noted that typically, small business start-ups in the United States fail within the first 5 years.

### **Small Business Technology**

It is essential to understand how small business owners use technology to achieve SCAs because many firms are small businesses and these businesses have a high business failure rate. According to the U.S. SBA's 2014 Office of Advocacy, 99.7% of all U.S. firms are small businesses. Powell et al. (2018) stated that the size and economic power of small businesses across the globe warrant investigation. The U.S. SBA (2014) classified small businesses as organizations with 500 or fewer employees. Some small businesses are competing against corporate giants such as Nestle, Siemens, Unilever, and Tesco.

Most small business owners are less enthusiastic about adopting new technology, which may negatively impact the organization's dynamic capabilities. Because small businesses are the backbone of the U.S. economy, research into the adaptation of technology by the owners of these businesses is crucial (Hettihewa & Wright, 2018). Most small business owners are slow adopters of technology and use unreliable and easy strategies for making decisions with limited access to relevant information (SBA, 2014). Therefore, some small business managers shoulder the customer relationship management systems' responsibility, often without the requisite expertise to do so (Fuller, 1996).

## Small Business Retail Technology

Several factors impact business owners' willingness to adopt technology to achieve SCAs. Arvie and Tanaamah (2019) noted that introducing new technologies in an organization might be problematic for managers and business specialists alike. Therefore, Arvie and Tanaamah listed five factors that may influence technology adaptation: (a) external variables, (b) perceived usefulness, (c) perceived ease of use, (d) attitude towards using, and (e) behavioral intention to use. Achieving sustainable operational success might be through using a contingency approach where firms use multiples strategies to overcome the barriers to technology adoption (Okumus et al. 2017). Additionally, Okumus et al. (2017) stated that some SRB owners do not have a good plan for technology adoption and implementation to generate SCAs because the business owners are afraid to invest in technology. Some of the reasons some SRB owners are afraid to invest in technology include the fear of business failure and low investment returns (Okumus et al., 2017). Additionally, Okumus et al. identified some of the barriers to technology investments might be internal, such as management style, employee perception, cost and customer behavior, or external such as lack of investors and market trends.

One of the reasons some small business owners and employees fail to adopt technology is that they might not be willing to try new advanced ways of getting the job done. Lewis and Loker (2014) conducted a quantitative experimental study to identify the variables relevant for the acceptance of advanced technology by apparel retail employees and recommend management strategies for effective technology integration in retail stores. Therefore, Lewis and Loker introduced current and past retail employees to three different retail technologies: (a) 3D body scanners, (b) product configurators, and (3) social networking in a laboratory setting.

The employees filled out questionnaires after their encounter with the three different retail technologies to determine the usefulness, enjoyment, ease of use, task importance, technology self-efficacy, and user intent. The research results of Lewis and Loker's (2014) study showed the participants considered the value of technology as an essential determinant of usage intent for all three types of technology. The results also showed that enjoyment was a relevant factor in the 3D body scanner's usage intent. Finally, employees who had high self-efficacy scores mostly also had higher ratings for the perception of each technology's usefulness. The results suggested that technologically confident employees, managers, or business owners would most likely be willing to adopt new technology to advance productivity. Hence, If employees have low self-esteem or do not like a particular technology, such employees could negatively impact the adoption and implementation of new technologies in an organization.

Besides considering how employees could impact technology innovation and adoption by retail business owners, customers may also be critical stakeholders to consider when thinking about new technology adoption. One of the apparent technologies most consumers have encountered at some supermarkets and some department stores is self-scanning technology (SST). Elliott et al. (2013) conducted a study focused on what drives consumers to use self-scanning devices. One may assume many retail business owners will continue to adopt SST because it allows for a standardized interaction with consumers. Adopting SST may also increase productivity and efficiency, and it may increase customer satisfaction through newer, quicker, and advanced channels. However, if customers would rather have a store representative assist them with the check-out process than using the SST, investment in such technologies would not only be a waste but could potentially lead to business failure.

Business owners should consider certain factors before developing a technology adoption strategy to achieve SCAs. Elliott et al. (2013) provided some factors that managers and business leaders may consider when deciding which technology to adopt, such as (a) the consumer's mindset, (b) technology readiness (TR), and (c) the impact on efficiency and productivity. The appeal of SST comes from the potential of eliminating service representatives, which gives the retail business owner hopes of greater cost efficiencies, enhanced service quality, and attraction of new customers over in-person services (Elliott et al., 2013).

An online method was used to collect data to evaluate 1,079 participant's perception of the intent of use, perceived fun, and perceived reliability about technology readiness when using SST. The results of Elliott et al.'s (2013) study showed that technology readiness impacted perceived enjoyment and perceived reliability but not the intent of use. Additionally, the survey result showed that technology readiness might appeal to the fun and reliability mindset of customers but not necessarily result in the customer using the technology. Elliott et al. expressed concern that some customers might be uncertain about using a new technology even though the technology might be appealing. The limitation of Elliott et al.'s study includes gathering data from a single case; therefore, the study's generalizability is questionable. Similarly, another limitation of Elliott et al. study is that the results were associated with a sole determinant. For example, the determinant of perceived fun and SST reliability was only technology readiness. Although the research result of the Elliott et al. study was not generalizable, the results indicate that business owners need to understand their stakeholders before investing in new technology.

## Small Business Customer Relationship Management Technology

There are different types of technology businesses can use to achieve SCAs. Some of the resources and practices used in small businesses include computers, software, networking devices, telephone systems, accounting systems, inventory control systems, and CRM systems (MacKechnie, 2017). Powell et al. (2018) examined CRM technology's use for organizational support capabilities by using an environmental contingency perspective. The main idea of the environmental contingency theory is to encourage flexible business responses to changes in the business environment as they arise (Turulja & Bajgoric, 2016).

Business owners might need to welcome flexible decision making to achieve competitive advantages. Turulja and Bajgoric (2016) noted two assumptions about the environmental contingency theory, there is no best strategy or structure for an organization to be competitive, and there is no strategy or structure equally effective under different environmental conditions. Powell et al. (2018) used a questionnaire to collect data from a sample of 276 small business CRM managers over a wide range of industries. The moderators used to determine the connection between technology use in CRM support capabilities and customer commitment were market offerings and market turbulence variables (Powell et al., 2018). Additionally, Powell et al. emphasized that using the contingency approach helps the business community discover practices based on the RBT that can lead to SCAs depending on the fit of the resources to the firm's environmental characteristics.

CRM technology is a growing trend in the marketplace. CRM technology is essential because many business owners are adopting the technology to achieve increased profitability (Powell et al., 2018). The rate of CRM technology adoption rose by over 51% in 2011 (Computer Economics, 2012). The increase in the adoption rate of CRM technology does not necessarily mean businesses using CRM technology experience a successful business venture. Lindgreen et al. (2006) argued that although there has been a significant increase in CRM technologies' organizational expenses, the success of CRM technology is still unclear. The argument remains relevant today.

## **Background of Customer Relationship Management**

Business owners should understand that no system is perfect, and every situation requires a customized response. Powell et al. (2018) used the contingency theory perspective to investigate the influence of technology utilization in CRM support capabilities on consumer relationships and firm performance. Lamptey and Singh (2018) agreed with other scholars that no structure or strategy is a perfect fit, which is the contingency perspective theory's premise. Business owners need internal and external environmental data to design and implement their unique business strategy (Eker & Eker, 2019). Therefore, there is a need for organizational leaders to understand the strengths and weaknesses of resources and capabilities to develop an effective strategy to achieve SCAs within their business environment.

When the business owner is willing to make decisions based on their situations, the organization may grow its capabilities and skills. Sachitra and Chong (2018) noted that capabilities such as learning capabilities, investment capabilities, process capabilities, and technical capabilities help business owners control, configure, and deploy resources for competitiveness. Based on the RBT concept, firms should be diverse regarding their utilization of their resources and capabilities (Sachitra & Chong, 2018). Maggon and Chaudhry (2018) emphasized that one essential business tool that could help managers deal with competitive forces is a CRM technology. However, Powell et al. (2018) argued that the broad adoption of CRM technology has not proportionately increased the SCAs of small businesses.

CRM technology may be necessary for SRB owners. Ruivo et al. (2017) asserted that the CRM system adoption has exploded in the enterprise environment in recent years. CRM technology utilization annual data showed total revenue of \$16.1 billion in 2011 and increased annually by approximately \$2-\$3 billion (Statista, 2018). The Statista (2018) information also revealed that since 2015, the revenue generated from CRM technology was \$26.29 billion. Therefore, CRM technology may be one of many retail business technologies that can help firms produce the revenue needed to achieve SCAs. However, if CRM technology adoption is a growing trend with small businesses, there is a question of why these businesses are still having a problem attaining SCAs. Powell et al.(2018) identified CRM integration with business processes as one of the reasons why some small businesses are still unable to achieve SCAs despite the growing trend of using CRM technology. The high investments and generally poor results associated with CRM systems warrant further research into these practices.

### **Customer Relationship Management Support Functions and Capabilities**

Business owners can use the capabilities of CRM technology to support competitiveness. Bai (2018) stated that the capabilities of CRM could help businesses reduce sales costs, develop new products, and expand sales channels and scope. CRM helps to provide a scientific basis for firms to establish producing strategies and development plans to achieve their business goals (Bai, 2018). Additionally, Bai noted that CRM is a process of gathering customer information, processing customer information, and delivering quality service to customers. CRM may help build a bridge between the company and its customers (Bai 2018).

The CRM mechanism has two main categories. Neirotti et al. (2018) classified the CRM mechanism into internal and external programs. Internally, CRM can help with business structure, culture, and KM. Externally, CRM can help with the interaction between a business and its customers, e.g., information sharing and customer engagement. CRM might help some firms obtain detailed information about customers, which business owners can use to adjust business offerings to meet customers' needs better than the competition. (AlHarbi et al., 2016).

Most business owners adopt the CRM technology to help the organizational efforts of achieving SCAs and responding to changes in ways consistent with the RBT and the VRIO model. Trif et al. (2019) reported that CRM dimensions such as tactical, strategic, and operational dimensions influence customer satisfaction and market efficiency. Open innovation, social marketing, public relations, sales, and social customer service are some of CRM technology functions (Sigala, 2018). Similarly, Kim and Wang (2019) reported that CRM capabilities should include gathering, organizing, and integrating information from customers to build customer relationships and improve organizational financial performance. Organizational culture reflects and impacts CRM's three components: the people, the processes, and the technology (Rahimi, 2017). Bhat and Darzi listed service capability, customer orientation capability, and personnel capabilities as the three capacity functions of CRM technology. CRM service capabilities involve using technology to meet the customer's needs by personalizing and maintaining an exceptional quality of products/services (Bhat & Darzi, 2018). Similarly, Skorska (2018) described services as actions that create or add value through knowledge creation, accumulation, and diffusion to satisfy customer needs.

An essential aspect of CRM technology is helping business owners develop valuable relationships with their consumers. Bhat and Darzi (2018) noted that customer orientation leads to long-lasting customer relationships that support competitiveness. Organizational culture reflects and impacts CRM's three components: the people, the processes, and the technology (Rahimi, 2017). Therefore, customer orientation positively impacts organizational marketing and financial performance and can be considered one of the dominating factors of CRM capability (Bhat & Darzi, 2018). Human resource capability is a factor dependent on the employees' skills and competencies to create value for the organization. Lim et al. (2017) reported that human resources actions positively impact organizational goals, eventually becoming sources of competitive advantages. Therefore, business owners can develop the human resources of their organization to help nurture valuable relationships with customers that are crucial to achieving SCAs.

## Customer Relationship Management Study Constructs and Resource-Based View Constructs

When business owners use CRM technology effectively, they might notice a positive growth in their business's customer relationship performance. Sheth (2017) and LipiäInen (2015) found evidence that might positively link a company's CRM technical capability to customer relationship performance. Therefore, Powell et al. (2018) hypothesized that the use of technology in firms' CRM support capabilities is positively

associated with their relational performance. Powell et al. used customer commitment as an indicator of relational performance. Customer commitment is an enduring desire to maintain a valued relationship with a company (Van Tonder & de Beer, 2018). Similarly, Powell et al. inferred that customer commitment is a factor that can keep an organization competitive. For example, van Tonder and de Beer affirmed that a merchant's brand could compel customers to stay with the merchant even during turbulent times.

The value component of the VRIO practices may lead to customer commitment in the long run. One of the reasons for acquiring CRM technology is the ability to customize solutions for customers, resulting in long-term loyal customers. When the organization's offerings are not customizable, the organization provides a standard offering, which makes the firm less competitive because anyone can offer such products or services (Powell et al., 2018). Providing standard or customizable products or services is also related to the imitability construct of the VRIO framework's practices.

The number of small businesses in the United States justifies the need to study and protect them from larger organizations' undue pressure. These businesses are essential to study because they should be more competitive due to the potential to be more innovative (Powell et al., 2018). Xuhua et al. (2019) stated that small business owners tend to achieve better cost reductions than big organizations. Therefore, these owners have many opportunities to demonstrate innovativeness (Hogg, 2011). CRM technology may support the sale of goods and services. Powell et al. (2018) noted that although salespeople often support machine-based CRM capabilities, the value of the human-based CRM support capabilities is essential and has become an expectation to some degree with business-to-business customers. Therefore, human resources are required to some extent for CRM technology to help attain the desired result, which in most cases, is achieving SCAs.

Technology should be adjusted depending on the relationship between an organization and its customers. In business to human customers, Powell et al. (2018) asserted that the human resources' extra effort goes a long way and helps get the customer commitment needed to achieve SCAs. Therefore, business to human customers requires less technology to generate SCAs (Powell et al., 2018). Additionally, Powell et al. argued that the type of customers determines the extent of technology or CRM technology needed to achieve SCAs. Business customers require more technology than individual customers (Powell et al., 2018).

# Customer Relationship Management and Market Turbulence Versus Technology Turbulence

CRM technology can also help business owners adapt and respond positively to market and technology turbulence. Dost et al. (2019) described market turbulence as the changes in customers' composition and their preferences, demands, price/cost structures, and competitors' composition. The focus of market turbulence is the customer's stability in a given market (Powell et al., 2018). Hence, Powell et al. reported that market turbulence ultimately influences CRM due to the focus on consumers and customers. Powell et al. hypothesized that stakeholders' dynamism in turbulent markets might impact the relationship between CRM support capabilities and customer commitment. The authors added that humans could adjust to the market without reprogramming or scaling disruptions, unlike information technology systems (Powell et al., 2018).

When humans and technology complement each other, the VRIO practices of the RBT can be satisfied, which may help SRB owners achieve SCAs. Although human resources can better control market turbulence, another disturbance to consider is technological turbulence. Given that we live in a highly technologically advanced global society, technological turbulence's focus is relevant to small businesses. Ma et al. (2018) described technological turbulence as the changes in technological products and services that cause uncertainty in an industry. Market turbulence and technological turbulence might influence organizational support capabilities and organizational performance (Reichstein, 2019). Therefore, small business owners might need to invest in their human resources to achieve or remain competitive during market or technological turbulence.

## **Customer Relationship Management Technology**

Researchers have studied CRM technology and how it aids in achieving SCAs. Powell et al. (2018) collected data through a targeted, online survey of managers who had an adequate knowledge level of the company's CRM practices. Two hundred and seventy-six participants who fit the small business definition of 500 or fewer employees provided data for the study. Powell et al. used the firm's market share, return on investment, and profitability as the determinants of the firm's performance or dependent variables. The independent variables used for Powell's study were data analysis support, E-service support, marketing support, data integration and access, and sales support. Powell et al. identified customer commitment as a moderating variable of the study. CRM may help business owners grow customer commitment and loyalty to their brand. Powell et al. (2018) considered and tested different ideas about the value CRM technology may provide to business owners. Additionally, Powell et al. examined how the extent of technology used in CRM support capabilities may be positively associated with customer commitment. Furthermore, Powell et al. also tested the different technology levels required for customized versus standard offerings. Powell et al. further considered the relationship between technology and customer type, i.e., business versus individual consumer. Finally, Powell et al. researched the level of technology used in the turbulent market and the relationship between customers' commitment and technological turbulence to determine CRM technology's value to business owners.

Knowing that technology should be scaled to fit the relationship between a firm and its customers, it is essential to understand how technology adoption may impact customer commitment. Powell et al.'s (2018) test results showed that CRM technology might not help increase customer commitment. The results possibly indicated the need for a higher level of technology for standard offerings than customizable offerings based on customer commitment levels. Customizable offerings required more human connection when compared to noncustomizable offerings. The results supported the idea that less technology leads to more significant customer commitment when dealing with individual customers. However, the reverse is the case when dealing with business customers. The results of Powell et al.'s study indicated that less technology is related to customer commitment in turbulent market due to the need for flexibility and agility. However, Powell et al.'s study showed that more significant technology led to a higher customer commitment for marketing. All the other variables in Powell et al.'s study showed that less technology led to tremendous success. Finally, the results of Powell et al.'s study showed less that technology led to more significant customer commitment except with sales support.

### Summary

The adoption of CRM technology does not automatically help business owners achieve SCAs. In some situations, business owners might be better off bypassing CRM technology to connect with their consumers. The results of Powell et al.'s (2018) study indicated that customer commitment was not positively related to firms utilizing technology on some occasions. In some cases, CRM technology proved valuable in achieving SCAs, and in other cases, it did not. Powell et al. provided an example of data analysis support and sales support capabilities that can be performed effectively with or without CRM technology use.

Depending on the business goals or strategies, CRM technology may or may not be a good fit. Powell et al. (2018) presented a scenario where technology utilization can be positively related to customer commitment as in the case of marketing support or negatively related, as in the case of sales support and data analysis support. In the case of market turbulence, CRM technology might be less effective for service-oriented businesses. However, in the case of technological turbulence, CRM might be useful for an organization's marketing initiatives. Therefore, CRM or other technology types are not a one size fit all solution. Each business needs to determine what technology level will help it achieve SCAs.

### Transition

In Section 1 of this qualitative research study, I covered (a) the foundation and the background for the study, (b) the research problem, the purpose statement, the nature of the study, the overarching research question, the interview questions, and the conceptual framework, (c) operational definitions, assumptions, limitations, and delimitations of the study, and (d) the significance of the study and a detailed review of the academic literature. I focused on the RBT concept and how it may facilitate SCAs for small business/SRB owners. In Section 2 of this qualitative research study, I cover (a) the role of the researcher, the participant selection process, and the research methodology and design; (b) the population and sampling plan, the ethical research considerations, the data collection instruments, techniques, and organization; and (c) the data analysis process and the research reliability and validity. In Section 3, I finalize the study by covering the purpose statement, the presentation of study findings, the application to professional practice, and the implications for positive social change, the recommendations for actions, the suggestions for future research, my reflections, and the study conclusion.

### Section 2: The Project

Unsuccessful SRB owners sometimes fail to achieve SCAs due to a lack of investment in updated technology (Hussein et al., 2017). The U.S. Chamber of Commerce (2018) surveyed 1,000 SB owners and reported that 57% of these businesses struggle to remain competitive due to a lack of familiarity with digital tools. Digital tools are electronic devices that can either be hardware such as computer systems or software such as Facebook, Instagram, etc. Although there has been an increase in technology utilization by consumers, some SRB owners still fail to develop a strategy for selecting the appropriate technology to improve their business competitiveness. The failure to establish a technology selection strategy is partly due to a lack of knowledge regarding the factors to consider when considering what technologies to select to aid SCAs (Curry et al., 2017).

### **Purpose Statement**

The purpose of this qualitative multiple case study was to explore the strategies SRB owners use to select the appropriate technology to achieve SCAs. The target population for this qualitative multiple case study consisted of seven to 10 SRB owners in the U.S. state of New Jersey area who have successfully adopted strategies to select the appropriate technology to achieve SCAs. The implications for positive social change include the potential to strengthen local economies and aid the growth and development of business entrepreneurs and companies. This study's information may also help struggling SRB owners learn appropriate technology selection strategies to help achieve SCAs. When SRB owners achieve SCAs, they may be able to build a healthier and more prosperous retail industry, where they can operate efficiently and competitively.

## **Role of the Researcher**

I performed the role of the data collector, interpreter, and analyzer in this study. Data collection is an essential component of a research project; the researcher performs a vital role in collecting and converting the raw data into useful information, Reddy and Kannamani (2018) noted. When the data are collected and analyzed, the researcher can make certain conclusions. In designing the study, I made key choices about the data sources and data collection procedures. Twining et al. (2016) noted that the chosen data collection instrument, such as interviews, questionnaires, and other instruments, impacts the quality of the data collected for a study. To gather data, I conducted semistructured interviews with SRB owners and observed and reviewed their businesses' technology footprints. Hofstra et al. (2019) stated that when a study includes an interview protocol, it improves the validity and reliability of data collection. Therefore, my study included the use of an interview protocol to enhance the data collection quality.

Interview protocols can help researchers remain consistent and focused on interview questions when conducting multiple case studies. Castillo-Montoya (2016) emphasized that an interview protocol might increase data gathered quality. Castillo-Montoya also emphasized that the feedback received from an interview protocol evaluation might increase the reliability and validity of the chosen research instrument. I observed the participating organizations' web presence and visited the participants' business location to gather more relevant data and triangulated information. Hofstra et al. (2019) noted that researchers use an observation protocol to structure thoughts and impressions to triangulate and improve the collected data's quality.

I explored how the SRB owners use technology; therefore, there was flexibility in the interview protocol and process to accommodate the participants. The interview process was convenient for the participants by offering both virtual and in-person interview sessions. The study's purpose was expressed in simple terms in both written and oral form to ensure that participants understand the reason for the research and the potential benefits. I adhered to the interview protocol to gather relevant data. The interview session included a review of the interview consent form to provide an overview of the research to participants and ensure the participant's willingness to contribute and abide by the protocol. The consent form enhanced the participants' understanding of what the study was about and how the data gathering process was to unfold.

Interview protocols can help researchers gather relevant data and ask helpful follow-up questions. Yeong et al. (2018) stated that a reliable interview protocol is key to obtaining valuable interview data. The interview protocol for this study aligned with the interview and research questions and allowed for inquiry-based conversations. I followed the interview protocol in posing questions to participants and engaging in relevant follow-up conversations. Ma et al. (2018) noted that including a feedback stage to gather more data or information strengthens the interview process; therefore, I included a feedback stage into the data gathering process to enhance the quality of the data collected. The interviews were semistructured. During the interview process, I gathered

short descriptive words or themes that I used in the study's coding phase, an approach suggested by Onwuegbuzie et al. (2009).

I selected study participants from the New Jersey area business community, an area that has a healthy rivalry among business owners. The U.S. state of New Jersey is a diverse community where immigrants and U.S.-born individuals own small businesses. Perry (2019) noted that U.S.-born individuals own 53% of New Jersey's main street businesses while immigrants own 50% of household business. Some of the small businesses listed include dry cleaning stores, grocery stores, gas stations, transportation services, nail salons, restaurants, computer services centers, etc. (Perry, 2019). There is significant traffic in and out of the New Jersey business area, mainly due to the train stations facilitating people's movement throughout the New Jersey business.

### **Researcher's Ethics**

Ensuring confidentiality was important to this study's success. Turcotte-Tremblay and Mc Sween-Cadieux (2018) noted that researchers must create and adopt strategies that help them respect participants' privacy. Additionally, researchers need to assure confidentiality while effectively publishing sensitive results (Turcotte-Tremblay & Mc Sween-Cadieux, 2018). Similarly, Corbin and Strauss (2015) asserted that the researcher's ethical responsibility is to guarantee and protect the research process's integrity. The *Belmont Report* outlines a principled analytical framework to guide the ethical process of using human subjects. The core constructs of The Belmont report include respect for persons, beneficence, and justice (National Commission for the Protection of Human Subjects of Biomedical and Behavioral Research, 1979). The main idea of The Belmont report is to treat people with respect, limit the potential of harm, and be fair to all persons.

I complied with Walden University Institutional Review Board (IRB) standards regarding research participants. Walden University IRB standard includes submitting an IRB form A, form C, and a list of documents the student will use to engage with the research participants. Once the student has submitted all the documents required by the IRB and answered all the IRB official's follow-up questions, the student receives an IRB approval number for a specific timeframe. I mitigated bias during the data gathering and data sorting stages by keeping an open mind, asking open-ended questions to facilitate dialogue, and allowing for a better understanding of the participant's responses. Member checking and data triangulation are other actions that I took to limit bias by sticking to the facts, protecting the participants, and abiding by The *Belmont Report* principles and protocols when dealing with human subjects.

Furthermore, I provided participants with a copy of the summarized interview responses for review and approval. I alone have access to the interview data for confidentiality reasons. I transferred all data to a password-protected external hard drive, which I will maintain for 5 years after the study's official completion date. After that, I will destroy the data. I used the purposeful sampling method to select participants for the research. Using the purposeful sampling method helped eliminate participants identified as vulnerable according to The *Belmont Report* guidelines for conducting ethical research (National Commission for the Protection of Human Subjects of Biomedical and Behavioral Research, 1979). By using alpha codes such as Participant A, B, C, and so forth in the study, the participant identities remained confidential.

After receiving IRB approval and having the participants sign or acknowledge the informed consent form, I began the data collection process. The study process included conducting detailed interviews, taking notes and recordings, and conducting extensive research based on an established protocol to facilitate data gathering. When gathering data, Clark et al. emphasized the importance of moral risk assessment, especially when handling digital data. Digital data are the information generated and stored in any computerized environment that can potentially be transmitted or transferred to other locations for various reasons (Clark et al., 2018). Therefore, I assessed the risk associated with using digital tools and made provision for my data storage solution to include a 2nd level authentication password protocol. The 2nd level authentication password protocol includes entering the harddrive password, receiving a pin on my mobile device, and entering the pin to gain full access to the hard drive.

## **Strategies for Avoiding Bias**

Extracting themes from gathered data and triangulating the coded data requires an unbiased open-minded approach. Bias leads to data misrepresentation and invalid results, which may occur during the data assessment stage (Healy & Devane, 2011). I reduced biases by ensuring that participants were selected using purposeful sampling and met specific inclusionary criteria. Iivari (2018) defined member checking as having participants review, validate, and approve the research data or interpretations. Researchers use member checking as an effective method of minimizing bias (Iivari, 2018). This study's member checking process included restating participants' responses to validate my interpretations of the participant's responses during and after the interview. Whitmore et al. (2019) defined data triangulation as a means of using multiple data sources and approaches to improve the study credibility and validity. The author implied that researchers triangulate data to reduce bias and increase study validity. Some of the data gathering sources for this study included interviews, observations, and the review of archival records to triangulate data and enhance research reliability.

I engaged the research participants during the interview process to understand how they use technology to achieve SCAs. The interview process conformed to the interview protocol, and follow-up questions were asked to ensure clarity and gather additional information. Yin (2018) noted that researchers use an interview protocol to retain focus on the research problem and avoid irrelevant data accumulation. I started the interview by providing an overview of the study and reviewing the interview plans while facilitating dialogue to promote an open environment that allows for relevant data gathering. Participants were encouraged to ask questions at any point during or after the interview session. I continued interviewing participants until I achieved data saturation. I conducted member checking at a later date suitable for the participant to confirm my interpretations of their comments and minimize misrepresentations or biases.

## **Participants**

I used several conditions to qualify SRB owners to participate in this research. The participant had to (a) be a SRB owner in the U.S. state of New Jersey, (b) have successfully used technology to achieve competitive advantages, and (c) have leadership skills or manage the business decisions. New Jersey has approximately 861,373 small businesses, representing 99.6% of the state's total businesses (SBA, 2018). Small business owners hired 49.8% of the state's private workforce in 2015 (SBA, 2018).

This study may help SRB owners in the New Jersey area capitalize on technology to grow their business locally, statewide, and nationally. I used the URL https://businessfinder.nj.com to help locate and solicit SRB owners in the U.S. state of New Jersey to participate in this study. I first contacted potential participants by sending out an email invitation letter and consent form to solicit interest in the research study. The informed consent form included a section where the participants verified their best communication method. SRB owner who expressed interest in participating in the study received a follow-up call or email to make proper arrangements to interview at a place and time best suited for the participant.

I aimed to develop a good rapport with the participants and remained sensitive to their interview needs. Brown and Danaher (2019) listed the principles of connectivity, humanness, and empathy as the guiding framework for maximizing semistructured interview research practices' ethical and methodological advantages. Dialogical relations with participants were crucial for building effective and respectful rapport and reciprocal relationships (Brown & Dabaher, 2019). To develop effective communication with the participants, I set clear expectations and facilitated dialogue by asking nonpersonal questions. Brown and Danaher listed relationship development and storytelling as strategies to integrate the participant's context with the researcher's questions. When selecting research participants, one of the factors I considered was the participant's familiarity with the research study. G. Joubert et al. (2019) indicated the importance of examining the participant's educational and leadership background and the participant's motivation to participate in the research. The participants' familiarity with research studies or prior experience contributing to research studies made some participants more desirable for this study. However, familiarity with research studies or previous experience participating in research studies was not a criterion for selecting a participant. The educational and leadership background was relevant when deciding which SRB owner qualified to participate in the study. The SRB owners demonstrated that they make business decisions that impact their business's success and profitability. Another critical factor in the participant selection process was the SRB owner's location. I delimited the participants' selection to businesses in the U.S. state of New Jersey.

Finally, the SRB owners selected had experience using technology to support their business's success. The SRB owners had to be familiar with the research problem. Yin (2018) advised researchers to select contributors that are familiar with the research question. When the participant is familiar with the research question, they can provide relevant data the researcher can use to make certain conclusions about the research problem. Participants who met the inclusion criteria were selected to participate in this study.

#### **Research Method and Design**

The qualitative case study research method may help researchers gather valuable answers to their research questions and explore the research problem in its natural environment. After determining the research method, most researchers select the research design to ensure the research problem and research questions are coordinated effectively (Dubois & Gadde, 2002). Researchers use a multiple case study design to address a broader range of historical and behavioral issues (Yin, 2018).Similarly, Dubois and Gadde (2002) stated that using the multiple case study design can help researchers use various sources of data to increase the credibility of their research findings instead of using a single case study. The qualitative method was suitable for this study in exploring the strategies that some SRB owners adopt to improve technology utilization, helping achieve competitive advantages in the U.S. state of New Jersey.

### **Research Method**

The goal of conducting interviews with the participants was to understand how certain behaviors helped them achieve SCAs. The primary purpose of using the qualitative research method is to understand human behavior (House, 2018). Understanding human behavior involves gathering personal information, which can gradually evolve into hypotheses through interpretive findings of repeated patterns (House, 2018). Furthermore, House (2018) indicated that the fundamental purpose of using the quantitative research method is to explain human behavior through the development of generalizable regularities and rules. Hence, certain aspects of the quantitative research objective are isolated and controlled to measure and explain specific behaviors (House, 2018). A research method involving data measurement and control was not appropriate since the research goal was to gain insights and understanding of the research subjects.

I used the qualitative method of study because it was best suited to achieve research goals and objectives. Cazan (2012) stated that the qualitative method of study is suitable when it is difficult to separate the research phenomenon from its context. Futhermore, Cazan noted that the qualitative research method provides a holistic description of the research phenomenon, emphasizing the social settings to understand better the research subject's thoughts and behavior. The qualitative research design is a customizable research approach that supports studying the research phenomenon within its natural environment (Nebojša, 2015). I used the qualitative method to help me understand each participants' unique business environment and how they selected technology to achieve SCAs.

Researchers are not limited to using standard questions or data collection tools when using the qualitative method. The data does not always need to be manipulated or controlled when using a qualitative research method because that may contradict the goal of understanding the research subject in its natural state. Researchers using quantitative methods are more likely to use data manipulation because the goal is not to understand but to explain how the research subject behaves based on certain conditions or variables (Nebojša, 2015). Therefore, the quantitative method was not appropriate for this research study's purpose and goal.

The mixed-method approach combines the benefits of both the quantitative and qualitative research methods. However, some dimensions of the quantitative and qualitative research methods are mutually exclusive (Nebojša, 2015). Therefore, researchers should avoid starting a study with both the subjective/qualitative and

objective/quantitative research methods at the same time (Nebojša 2015). Utilizing the mixed methodology requires extensive experience and time, especially for data processing, putting researchers who use the method at disadvantages (Venkatesh et al., 2013). Similarly, Manolova et al. (2012) noted that the qualitative research method could help researchers understand the small business owners' primary motivation, which may foster a better understanding of why some SRB owners find it challenging to achieve SCAs. Hence, the qualitative research method was best suited for my research study.

# **Research Design**

I used a qualitative multiple case study design for this research. Saunders et al. (2018) noted that when the data is saturated, there are no new themes or information detected in the data gathered or analyzed. Hence, further data collection and analysis are unnecessary. Additional data gathering is considered pointless after the point of data saturation since collecting additional data would not add any new themes to the data analysis process (Marshall & Rossman, 2016). The research process achieves data saturation when interviewing additional SRB owners produces repetitive information, and no new themes or information emerges. Ejimabo (2015) described a case study as an analysis of persons, situations, decisions, periods, projects, systems, institutions, or other systems examined holistically by one or more methods. Research communities often criticized the single case study methodology arguing the methodology is incapable of providing a generalizing conclusion (Tellis, 1997). Furthermore, research communities usually prefer a multiple case study to a single case study design due to the potential to establish research credibility and improve the research quality (Tellis, 1997).

Additionally, Tellis asserted that having numerous cases often strengthens a study because it increases confidence and reliability in the research results and conclusions when themes replicate.

Other qualitative designs considered for this study included ethnographic, narrative, and phenomenological research designs. Hou et al. (2013) indicated that researchers use a phenomenological design when exploring participants' lived experiences as it pertains to the world. This study focused on how SRB owners developed strategies for the technology selection to achieve SCAs and not participants' lived experiences as they influence the world. Therefore, I used a case study method and not the phenomenological approach. Baxter and Jack (2008) noted that there are multiple possible data collection methods when conducting a case study design, such as documentation, archival records, interviews, physical artifacts, direct observations, and participant observation.

I did not use the ethnographic research design for this study. Ejimabo (2015) noted that researchers use an ethnographic research design to systemically gather data about groups' social life, cultural relations of communities, and other settings. The ethnographic design did not apply to my research because my focus was not on culture or people. Coffey and Atkinson (1996) stated that researchers use narrative designs to explore people's life experiences either through written or spoken accounts provided by the individuals. My study's goal was not to explore the participant's lived experiences; hence, the narrative research design was not appropriate for this study.

The semistructured interview method was a good fit for this study. Noor (2008) emphasized that a semistructured interview allows the researcher to be flexible in approaching each research participant while still focusing on the same data collection area. My goal was to interview Seven to10 SRB owners in the U.S. state of New Jersey until I have achieved data saturation. To ensure this study reached data saturation, I gathered data from sources such as semistructured interviews, online observations, and the review of the participants digital footprints to achieve data saturation and to triangulate the information collected from all sources.

I used the multiple case study for this research. Yin (1981) indicated that case studies might be descriptive or explanatory. The multiple case study approach was appropriate for this study because researchers can use it to provide evidence through repeated observations (Yin, 2018). Using a multiple case study approach may help the business community in the U.S. state of New Jersey know the strategies other SRB owners use to select the appropriate technology to achieve SCAs. (Yin, 2018) stated that when a case study contains more than a single case, the result is a multiple case study. Numerous SRB owners in New Jersey have achieved SCAs because of their technology selection and implementation processes. Therefore, a multiple case study was an excellent fit to help understand if the lack of technology selection strategies could contribute to why some SRB owners in New Jersey are not achieving SCAs.

I gathered data until the point of data saturation. When no new themes develop from additional case studies, the researcher as achieved data saturation (Marshall &

Rossman, 2016). To support the case study with multiple data sources, I gathered data from the SRB's online activities to corroborate the data collected during the interviews.

#### **Population and Sampling**

I used purposeful sampling to solicit potential participants to contribute to this study. This study's target population consisted of seven to 10 SRB owners in the U.S. state of New Jersey who have successfully adopted strategies to select the appropriate technology to achieve SCAs. Harati et al. (2019) stated that researchers use a purposeful sampling method to select individuals who may have valuable information about the interview subject. Similarly, Sharafizad (2018) noted that researchers carefully select individuals from the target population who have experienced cases similar to the research phenomenon when using purposeful sampling. Purposeful sampling might lead to snowball sampling where participants from the purposeful sampling suggest other participants that may be of value to the study (Sharafizad, 2018).

Participants were SRB owners located in the U.S. state of New Jersey and were business leaders or business decision-makers who have successfully used technology to improve the competitiveness of their business. Grant et al. (2019) stressed the importance of following a plan or procedure for the participant selection process to avoid unethical selection procedures. I used a password-protected external hard drive and safe to store participants' interview data for safekeeping for 5 years before destroying the device and the data.

While conducting the semistructured interviews with SRB owners, additional data-gathering efforts stopped when such efforts no longer yielded new information.

Fusch and Ness (2015) explained how the failure to reach data saturation negatively impacted some studies' quality, validity, and reliability. Interviewing at least ten participants should generate relevant data for a research study (Hart & Warren, 2013). Therefore, the target sample size to interview for this study was seven to 10 participants. After interviewing the first seven participants, I began analyzing the data because I had reached data saturation. I started corroborating information gathered from online observation and the review of the SRB's technology footprints for data triangulation and saturation.

Business owners might increase sales and achieve SCAs when they develop and implement a technology selection strategy. Small businesses have the potential of increasing sales by up to 30% when they adopt new technologies and techniques of business operation (Ismail et al., 2018). Additionally, Armstrong and Yongqiang (2017) noted that governments are looking to small businesses to boost economic growth in the regional area. With government tax breaks and financial investments, SRB owners have the potential to demonstrate how they adopt technology to achieve SCAs. Interviewing SRB owners who have used technology to achieve business goals may help other SRB owners understand how to attain business objectives through technology-driven business strategies.

I conducted 4 zoom virtual interviews and 3 face-to-face interviews conveniently, comfortably, and confidentially so that the study participants could speak freely without restraint. Sivell et al. (2019) asserted that it is important for interviewers to select a comfortable interviewing environment to make it easy to address sensitive and open-

ended questions. Hence, I made the zoom platform available to accommodate participants who could not talk face-to-face. Croix et al. (2018) indicated that the interview quality depends on how comfortable the interviewee feels. Building rapport is another crucial element of creating a relaxed interview environment (Croix et al. 2018). Therefore, Croix et al. suggested that building a comfortable interview environment may require the interviewer to discover the needs of the participants, display respect, be observant, and listen.

#### **Ethical Research**

*The Belmont Report* addresses the importance of seeking informed consent when planning the data gathering process (National Commission for the Protection of Human Subjects of Biomedical and Behavioral Research, 1979). Getting informed consent from participants reflects the principle of respect and protection of vulnerable groups or individuals (National Commission for the Protection of Human Subjects of Biomedical and Behavioral Research, 1979). Similarly, Icy et al. (2019) indicated that getting informed consent portrays a balanced assessment of risks and harm as understood in *The Belmont Report*. I used the purposeful sampling method to select the sample size of seven to 10 participants who have used technology to achieve SCAs in the U.S. state of New Jersey. The informed consent form presentation occurred at the interview time to provide a brief description of the research problem and the study's nature. The consent form also included details about the risk-aversion protocols, confidentiality statement, purpose of the study, participant expectations, the right to withdraw, and data storage commitments (Harriss & Atkinson, 2015). The informed consent form followed the Walden University IRB requirements, which requires students to include the background of the topic, the research procedures, the research questions, the voluntary nature of the study, the inclusion criteria, and a list of other requirements.

IRB plays a vital role in the research process. Phillips et al. (2017) asserted that the primary mission of the IRB is to oversee research at an organization based on federal guidelines to protect the rights and welfare of human subjects partaking in the study. I received the Walden University IRB approval number 09-15-20-0557734 before commencing data gathering activities, which included collecting data using face-to-face and virtually via Zoom or a phone call session adhering to the interview protocol. Potter (2018) stated that face-to-face interviews facilitate relationship building and productive partnerships. Additionally, Potter noted that researchers use an interview data gathering method to observe the participant in a professional setting to better understand the research phenomenon.

I did not offer participants any form of compensation for their contributions to this research. Research participants had the right to withdraw from participating in the research by notifying me either in person, by phone, email, or any other communication form. Participant's personal information, including the business's name or other identifiable information, was not recorded in this research study. I used alpha codes such as Participant A, B, C, etc., to distinguish between different participants. Data collected for this study were converted and transferred to electronic forms and stored on a password-protected external hard drive for storage for 5 years. The primary form of the data collected that were not directly transferrable to an external hard drive, such as papers or voice-recordings, will remain secured in a password-protected safe for 5 years before destroying the data.

### **Data Collection Instruments**

I was responsible for all the data collection efforts. I conducted semistructured interviews with participants who have successfully used technology to impact their sustainability in the U.S state of New Jersey positively. Y. T. Joubert and Swart (2019) noted that in a qualitative study, the researchers are the primary instrument of gathering and analyzing data. Humans serve as instruments for guiding and shaping the data collection process (Postholm & Skrøvset, 2013). I conducted 3 face-to-face and 4 virtual interviews using the zoom application with the selected participants. With the participants' permission, the conversations that transpired during the interview sessions were recorded and transcribed for data analysis and protection purposes. Rasipuram and Dinesh (2018) indicated that a face-to-face meeting gives the researcher more context because the verbal and nonverbal cues are extracted and used to draw analysis. Furthermore, participants are better communicators in a face-to-face interview setting (Rasipuram & Dinesh, 2018). Similarly, Tsang (2014) stated that semistructured interviews allow for interactive data collection, which helps researchers understand how participants respond to different circumstances in their natural environments. In addition to using a semistructured interview to collect data, I analyzed the organization's technological activities such as social media posts or smart device technology interface to support the interview session's information.

During the triangulation process, the secondary data included the participants' technological activities, such as the participants' internet presence and reviews. A qualitative study is crucial to support data from multiples sources for data triangulation (Yin, 2018). During the interview process, I adhered to the interview protocol and maintained flexibility to allow the emergence of unexpected information and results while ensuring consistency to enhance the research study's quality.

The interview protocol included seven open-ended interview questions focused on the business owner's perception, strategies, adoption, and technology utilization. I asked follow-up questions during the interview process to understand better what technology the participants have used in the past and how such actions led to better competitiveness. Wijnhoven and Brinkhuis (2015) indicated that researchers use interview data in conjunction with organizational archival data to conclude the research phenomenon. I reviewed the firm's online presence to support the interview session's information.

Finally, I assessed and evaluated the organization's online presence concerning customer relationships to determine their technology utilization effectiveness. The information gathered from the interviews, organizational digital reviews, and observations were organized in themes to triangulate and analyze the data gathered. The data-gathering stage began after receiving IRB approval. I implemented member checking by verifying my interpretations of the participant's responses to the interview questions accurately represented the participant's view during and after the interview to preserve the data quality and limit bias in the study. Santos et al. (2017) explained member checking as a stage in which the researcher compares their understanding and

interpretation of analyzed data with the participants' view to enhance data accuracy. Therefore, I used all the data collected from primary and secondary data sources to understand and create meaningful expressions about how the SRB owners used technology to achieve SCAs.

#### **Data Collection Technique**

As the primary data collection instrument, I was responsible for determining this study's data collection technique. The primary data gathering method for this qualitative multiple case study design was the semistructured interview. Alshenqeeti (2014) stated some of the advantages of using a semistructured interview technique include more comprehensive answers and a structured answering format, allowing for a high return rate on data collection. Some of the disadvantages of the semistructured interview technique include the potential for subconscious bias and the likelihood of contradictory responses (Alshenqeeti, 2014). Hence, I kept an open mind and asked open-ended questions to focus on collecting data rather than influencing the participant's responses.

Secondary data sources included reviewing the participant's technology footprints and processes. Additionally, I evaluated the organization's online presence to support and better understand the interview data collected. Using a semistructured interview helps participants provide a vivid description of their feelings, experiences, and views about a topic's significance (Azungah, 2018). Similarly, Godwin (2019) stated that a semistructured interview setting permits the flexibility to ask questions that may help understand the research phenomenon. Therefore, I performed 4 zoom and 3 face-to-face semistructured interviews. I contacted 40 SRB owners and secured seven participants to contribute to the study's data-gathering efforts. The participants in this study were SRB owners in the U.S. state of New Jersey who had successfully used technology to achieve SCAs. An email that included an informed consent form that described the research intent, the participants' rights, and the security measures for data gathering was sent out to potential participants to solicit participation in this study after receiving IRB approval. The participants that expressed interest in the study by responding or signing the informed consent form received a follow-up email or follow-up call to pick an interview time that worked for them. The participant and I determined a time and place or method that was best suited for the participant to commence data-gathering efforts.

Before starting the interview, I obtained consent from the participant to audio record the entire interview and then transcribed the data for member checking activities. Godwin (2019) stated that a face-to-face interview provided the opportunity to understand the participants and experience with the research phenomenon in a way mere observation of the participants cannot. I also used a face-to-face interview method to observe the participant's nonverbal language to express themselves. During the interview process, I took detailed notes to help me determine follow-up questions and help remember crucial points. Note-taking helps focus attention, aid the memorizing and recalling process, and enhances output (Di Vesta & Gray, 1972).

The responses to the interview questions helped provide insight into the SRB owners' comfort level using technology to achieve a competitive edge. The interview questions also covered how the business owners have demonstrated their willingness to use technology to create SCAs. I used open-ended questions to probe into what strategies the SRB owners use when updating or selecting the appropriate technology to achieve SCAs.

After conducting the interview session with all seven participants, I used my observation protocol to review some of the participants' technology footprints to validate and triangulate the data. I created a summary of the interview data after reviewing the interview transcript and emailed each participant's summary. After sending the interview summary, I created a follow-up member checking session to ensure the interview summary truly reflected the participant's views and thoughts about each question asked. The data analysis session involved uploading all collected data into NVivo for coding and data interpretation purposes. Each participant was assigned an alpha code, such as Participant A, B, C, through participant G.

#### **Data Organization Technique**

I coded the data gathered to support the data analysis process. Williams and Moser (2019) described coding in a qualitative study as a process that allows the collected data to be organized, categorized, and thematically arranged. Coding provides a structured platform for developing meaning or conclusions (Moser, 2019). I used the coding method to organize the data gathered into themes and then triangulated the data collected from multiple sources to draw conclusions. Mertens et al. (2017) discussed how researchers sometimes wrongly assume data software can help them quickly retrieve data conclusions without preliminary work. Hence, I took my time to understand the summarized data that I imported into Nvivo for data analysis. Mertens et al. emphasized that there is no right approach to extracting data as long as the researchers organize, structure, and analyze data to become familiar with it.

I took several steps to organize the data gathered, including running a query for the frequently used word, identifying themes, gathering context about themes from participant's responses, and developing meaning expressions from the contextualized themes. Williams and Moser (2019) indicated that the first step of data organization is open coding, where the author identifies separate concepts and themes for categorization. The second stage is axial coding, where the researcher further lines up and classify themes after open coding has been completed (Williams & Moser, 2019). During axial coding, the researcher should: (a) understand the analytic method used in refining and categorizing data, (b) continuously compare and analyze emergent themes, and (c) scrutinize each textual line of the interview to deeply engage with the text (Williams & Moser, 2019).

The goal of collecting data is to understand how SRB owners select the appropriate technology to achieve SCAs. The final step of data organization is selective coding, where the researcher chooses and integrates categorized data from axial coding into consistent and meaningful expressions (Williams & Moser, 2019). I gathered and analyzed the data to create themes and triangulate information collected from multiple sources to develop meaningful expressions while also keeping a journal to become familiar with the data gathered and the emerging ideas to create useful interpretations. The electronic data collected were transferred to a secured external hard drive that is password-protected for safekeeping for 5 years. After 5 years, I will destroy the data. The

participants' names and identities were masked and replaced with alpha characters such as Participants A, B, and C to protect the participants' confidentiality.

### **Data Analysis**

The data set for this qualitative research study included the information gathered from the semistructured interviews, member checking sessions, my detailed notes, and the observation of the participant's technology footprints. I imported all the collected data into the NVivo software and used the keyword-in-context (KWIC) process to analyze the data set and create themes. Leech and Onwuegbuzie (2011) described KWIC as a data analysis method that helps increase understanding by adding context to specific keywords. It is essential to add multiple words around a keyword to provide some context and enhance the keyword's understanding (Leech & Onwuegbuzie, 2011). The authors also noted that using the KWIC method with too few words can create a loss of content around the keyword.

The first step in the data analysis process included importing the data set into NVivo. I then created a query for the frequently used words to develop themes and populate the themes with some context to understand the participant's view on the theme. I also analyzed the observation data regarding the themes. Finally, I created meaningful expressions based on each participant's responses to the themes created. The participant's responses to each theme were further broken down into sub-themes to help understand the research results.

I analyzed the data to understand how SRB owners in the U.S. state of New Jersey develop their technology selection strategy to achieve SCAs. Zikmund et al.

(2013) described the data analysis process as a stage where the researcher applies reasoning to comprehend and interpret the data that has been gathered and organized. Data analysis is a method of exploring collected data to discover or determine associations and patterns to support and present findings (Chamber, 2018). Similarly, Giyarsih and Muh (2018) stated that data analysis does not start when data accumulation has ended. Instead, data analysis begins when the researcher commences data gathering and continues until study completion (Giyarsih & Muh, 2018). Furthermore, data triangulation is crucial to examine the gathered data's reliability and validity (Giyarsih & Muh, 2018). Hence, to establish study credibility, I triangulated the primary data with the secondary data sources.

In this qualitative multiple case study, I used a software coding method in conjunction with data triangulation to analyze the data gathered about SRB owners in the U.S. state of New Jersey, who have developed strategies to use technology to achieve SCAs successfully. The three principles of data triangulation provided by (Yin, 2018) are: (a) amass data from multiple sources, (b) develop a database to sort through gathered data, and (c) keep a chain of evidence to map back to the conclusions. Smith (2018) indicated that data triangulation helps the contextual understanding of the research phenomenon. The data gathering process included using multiple data sources such as case study interviews, observations, and review of organizational online presences. I also kept detailed notes to track and analyze data for each data accumulation source continually. I recorded each interview with an audio recorder and transcribed using NVivo software, and then reviewed, coded, and stored the data on a password-protected external hard drive for safekeeping. NVivo software helped increase data processing accuracy and aided the coding and data triangulation efforts. Zamawe (2015) explained that the manual process of recording and transcribing data could be a daunting and time-wasting endeavor for researchers to undertake. Additionally, researchers might inaccurately transcribe the data or misinterpret the raw sound files. After gathering the data and coding, data sorting activities began. The participants' identities were not compromised; instead, codes such as Participant A, B, C, etc., replaced participant and firm names. Alford and Page (2015) stated that NVivo software supports multiple functions such as coding, querying, and reporting. I used NVivo software version 13 mainly to transcribe and code the data gathered.

The next step in the data analysis process was to organize the data gathered and identify themes. The data organization and theme creation stages were vital because they facilitated data triangulation. The data collected were coded and organized using short phrases to represent each point (Gibson et al., 2019). The detailed notes collected while gathering data to identify and create emergent themes also helped at the data analysis stage. Aslam et al. (2020) inferred that meaningful themes might gradually evolve into higher-order themes, leading to data triangulation and help draw conclusions.

The final stage of analyzing the data was interpreting the data. Sirivanichkul et al. (2018) defined data interpretation as a process of extracting meaning from gathered data into an understandable language for the audience to comprehend. Data interpretation is a

stage that requires extra caution to avoid bias or misrepresentation of the data collected. Some of the steps that I executed to interpret the data included: (a) reviewing the gathered to analyze further and verify themes, (b) sharing the interview text with research participant for member checking and to confirm accuracy, and (c) interpreting the data into more straightforward sentences that can be easily understood.

#### **Reliability and Validity**

I used the concepts of reliability and validity to establish the authenticity and reproducibility of the study analysis. Researchers use the concept of reliability to focus on variance while using validity to concentrate on possible biases (Bishop & Boyle, 2019). Similarly, Jordan (2018) noted that researchers use the concept of validity to concentrate on the accuracy of data appropriately gathered, reflecting the research phenomenon. Hence, the idea of reliability in a research study addresses the reproducibility of the research instruments' data conclusions (Hammersley, 1987; Yin, 2018). Grossoehme (2014) expressed the importance of researchers establishing the reliability and validity of their study to provide for the findings' correctness. Additionally, researchers establish the reliability and validity of their research to prove their research's dependability, thoroughness, and quality (Grossoehme, 2014). Enhancing the validity and reliability of this study was essential to ensure that SRB owners can use this study's information to develop strategies to achieve SCAs. Therefore, minimizing bias and accurately representing the participant's view were keys to maintaining this study's integrity. Data triangulation also helped establish the reliability and validity of the research results and conclusions.

## Reliability

It was essential to establish this study's reliability to add to the body of knowledge of achieving SCAs. Luamba (2019) noted that the concept of reliability addresses enhancing the dependability in research. Dependability refers to the features of a system that validates one's reliance on the idea of conducting a dependable study (Mahfoud et al, 2018). Similarly, Shenton (2004) indicated that a qualitative study's dependability might be achieved by accurately documenting the processes undertaken while conducting the research. Furthermore, Shenton reported that a step-by-step documentation of undertaken processes would help ensure that the researcher adheres to reliable research methods. Documentation would ensure that the researcher provides indepth information for potential data replication purposes.

The focus on study dependability helps ensure information gathered from the study are reliable and valid. Lemon and Hayes (2020) stated that researchers use the concept of dependability to emphasize the uniqueness of the research findings to a specific time and place. The idea of dependability highlights the conclusions and explanations are traceable to the data (Lemon & Hayes, 2020). Therefore, data triangulation can help ensure the gathered data is dependable and trustworthy (Lemon & Hayes, 2020). To ensure this study's reliability and dependability, I adhered to the data-gathering protocols and abided by the Walden University IRB standards and requirements which includes getting an IRB approval number prior to gathering research data from participants.

This study's research process included rigid data gathering and data presentation strategies to ensure that the data results were accurately analyzed and reported. Member checking was one of the strategies that help ensure research dependability. Using the member checking strategy ensured the accurate representation of participants' opinions by restating responses and providing interview summaries. Participants received a copy of the interview summary to validate and approve the proper representation of their views and opinions. The member checking strategy helped ensure that the research data was replicable and dependable. I stored the electronic data gathered on a password-protected external hard drive and safe, which I will maintain for 5 years before destroying all the data traces. Nonelectronic data collected were locked up in a password-protected safe, and will be destroyed after 5 years.

# Validity

I used the concept of data validity to establish the correctness and accuracy of the data, as expressed by the participants. The validity concept confirmed the data measured what I expected it to measure. Lawrence (2015) asserted that researchers create and ensure their study is valid by ensuring that the tools, processes, and data used for the study are appropriate. Data triangulation is another way researchers can establish research study validity (Elo et al. 2014). Similarly, FitzPatrick (2019) noted that the concept of research validity refers to threats that might impact the research conclusions' correctness. Participant selection is a critical risk in establishing validity in research (Kenny, 2019). Hence, Kenny noted the possibility of selecting participants who are a poor fit because of various factors such as location, education, among other factors.

I adhered to my interview protocol to establish research validity. FitzPatrick (2019) stated that research validity evaluates the research questions, process, and design to ensure the accuracy of the research results and conclusions. Researchers should identify areas of personal biases in their study (Matthes & Ball, 2019). Hence, I asked the participants follow-up questions about other factors supporting their business achieving SCAs besides technology. Some of the validity issues identified by Daniel (2019) include inconsistent data gathering method or the failure to develop a protocol or standard while conducting a qualitative study. Therefore, I ensured that I adhered to my interview and observation protocol to avoid inconsistencies that might jeopardize the study's validity. The objective of considering the validity of a study is to ensure the findings' correctness derived from the research process and data (Kenny, 2019). Therefore, another step taken to ensure study validity was to ensure my data gathering efforts reached the data saturation point.

# Credibility

I adhered to my participant inclusion and exclusion criteria to establish research credibility. Yin (2018) noted that research credibility is a lens to the research phenomenon through the study participants' view. When establishing research credibility, Aladhadh et al. (2019) indicated that the source of the data gathered and the data collection location could impact the data's credibility. Hence, it is useful to have a set of criteria for participant selection and ensuring the place and method of data gathering are comfortable for the participant.

I used purposeful sampling to select research participants and ensured the chosen interview method was convenient for the participants. Some researchers use member checking and data triangulation to establish a study's credibility. Candela (2019) explained that member checking in qualitative research typically serves to maintain research validity. Member checking is a method of ensuring an accurate portrayal of the participants' views (Candela, 2019). Additionally, Candela stated that a crucial aspect of data triangulation is conducting member checking with participants. Member checking could help researchers limit personal biases (Noble & Smith, 2015). Whitmore et al. (2019) described data triangulation as using multiple data sources to enhance the research quality. The research data gathering process entailed collecting data from different sources such as interviews, technology footprints, and observing the participant's online presence. I triangulated the data collected by exploring the information gathered from multiple data sources to understand the strategies the participants used to select the right technology to achieve SCAs. This study's data sources included semistructured interviews, detailed notes, and an observation of the participant's technology footprints.

# **Transferability**

I used the concept of transferability to establish relatable results. Sinclair et al. (2018) indicated that the trustworthiness of research findings is dependent on the likelihood to recreate the research finding with the same or similar participants. Transferability in qualitative studies addresses the possibility of generalizing study findings across different settings (Marshall & Rossman, 2018). Although most qualitative research findings are typically not generalizable, some aspects should be relatable to other participants within or outside the study population. Piskur et al. (2017) emphasized that researchers enable transferability to ensure research findings are useful to others exploring the same or similar phenomenon.

Researchers should provide well-detailed information about the participant selection and data gathering process to help future researchers and the business community. I included a copy of the interview and observation protocols as Appendices A and B, respectively. Matamonasa-Bennett (2015) asserted that researchers establish transferability by including sufficient details about the research process. Providing detailed information about the research process helps future researchers verify and determine the research findings' replicability.

#### *Confirmability*

I used the confirmability concept to limit bias or any factor that can compromise the accuracy of the data gathered. Lincoln and Guba (1985) explained that confirmability addresses the study findings' fairness in terms of clarity and the gathered data interpretations. Researchers use confirmability to limit research bias and validate the research finding to represent the participant's view (Cope, 2014). Researchers should scrutinize the analysis's documentation (Solli & Hvalvik, 2019). I ensured research confirmability by thoroughly reviewing the data gathered and the results. The data gathering process included detailed note-keeping to become familiar and evaluate the data continuously.

I implemented member checking by repeating participant answers to validate responses during the interview, and confirming the proper representation of the

participant's views, by providing participants with a copy of the interview summary after the data gathering stage was completed. Providing participants with the summarized interview data allowed the participants to ensure the responses truly reflect their views and opinions. Providing participants with transcribed interview data also established the credibility and confirmability of this study. Finally, I triangulated data by using the information gathered from interviewing, reviewing public records, and reviewing the online presence to confirm that the emerging themes were valid and credible.

### **Data Saturation**

I gathered data until the point of data saturation. Aldiabat and Le Navenec (2018) noted that the conventional definition of data saturation is when new data do not add further insights into the research phenomenon. However, some researchers do not gain further insight due to methodological issues rather than data gathering continuance (Aldiabat & Le Navenec, 2018). Although exhaustive research is not possible, I ensured the participants selected were the best fit for the research phenomenon by ensuring they met the study's inclusion criteria. By using multiple data sources, such as conducting interviews and observing the technology footprints, I generated new information that led to data saturation. Finally, I reviewed the business technology utilization process and online presence to corroborate the data collected from other sources. The interview data collection process included seven participants, and when no new themes emerged, which was the point of data saturation, data gathering stopped. Yin (2018) stated that researchers attain data saturation when no new ideas develop about the research phenomenon from further data gathering efforts.

#### **Transition and Summary**

Section 2 included the purpose statement, the researcher's role, the participant selection process, and details about the research methodology and design. I further expounded on the population and sampling plan method, ethical research considerations, data collection instruments, techniques, and organizations. There were explanations of the data analysis process and a discussion regarding the research reliability and validity process, which concluded Section 2. I focused on ensuring the research findings were credible, confirmable, and transferable while discussing the research validity and reliability. Section 3 includes the purpose statement, presentation of findings, applications to professional practice, and implications for social change. I also make recommendations for actions and share recommendations for future research, reflect on my doctoral study journey, and conclude the study.

Section 3: Application to Professional Practice and Implications for Change

### Introduction

The purpose of this qualitative multiple case study was to explore the strategies SRB owners use to select the appropriate technology to achieve SCAs. The datagathering efforts for this study included conducting semistructured interviews with seven participants who (a) owned a SRB in the New Jersey area, (b) performed in a leadership capacity, (c) were 20 years old or older, and (d) spoke English. Three of the interview sessions occurred in a face-to-face setting, and four interviews took place virtually via the Zoom video conference platform. Secondary data gathering included reviewing publicly available company technology footprints on social media platforms such as Facebook and Instagram and other web-based platforms. I conducted a member checking session with each participant to clarify, update, and confirm the research data summary. The three themes that emerged during data analysis process are as follows: (a) customer relationship management, (b) marketing, and (c) process improvement. The themes encompass factors that may affect how SRB owners select the appropriate technology to achieve SCA. All of the participants reported that they use technology daily to achieve SCAs.

### **Presentation of the Findings**

The presentation of findings section includes some technology platforms used by the participants. Table 1 provides a list of all the technology discussed during interviews.

# Table 1

Technology platform	Word count	Weighted percentage (%)
Facebook	39	10.2
Instagram	39	10.2
Website	19	5.0
Google Review	16	4.2
Honeybook	11	2.8
Database	8	2.1
Aquity	7	1.8
Cellphone	5	1.3
The Cut	4	1.0
Yelp	4	1.0
Google Calendar	3	0.8
CRM	3	0.8
Email	3	0.8

Technology Platforms Identified During the Interview Sessions

The first column in Table 1 contains a list of the technology platforms that were mentioned during interviews. The second column represents the total number of times the participants discussed or mentioned the technology platform during the interview sessions. The final column in Table 1 is a weighted percentage of references made to each technology platform compared against the entire data collected. The overarching research question used as a guide for this study was as follows: What strategies do SRB owners use to select the appropriate technology to achieve SCAs? The information gathered from the research participants confirms Duhamel's (2019) theory that SCAs are achievable when resources meet the VRIO definition. The participants' responses also confirmed that the VRIO framework is essential to selecting the right technology to help achieve SCAs. Hence, the RBT VRIO component, the conceptual framework for this study, is a relevant theory to consider when SRB owners develop strategies for choosing the right technology to achieve SCAs.

The participants' responses also confirmed that the VRIO framework is an essential concept SRB owners can use when developing strategies for selecting the right technology to help achieve SCAs. Hence, this study's RBT VRIO conceptual framework is relevant to consider when SRB owners develop strategies for choosing the right technology to achieve SCAs. Each participant considered how their technology was valuable, rare, imitable, and organized to help them exploit opportunities internally and externally from an organizational perspective. For example, four participants considered their technology valuable because it helped them create satisfied repeat customers. Five participants considered their technology solution rare because their competitors could not get the same reward by replicating their products or services.

The data gathered and analyzed reinforce the idea in the literature that SCAs require periodic evaluation and modification to maintain relevance to survive market or technological turbulence (Bashir & Verma, 2017). SRB owners should consider periodically evaluating how effective the technology is to the firm's CRM, marketing,

and process improvement initiatives. This study's findings apply to the professional practice of how SRB owners develop strategies to select the appropriate technology to achieve SCAs.

I conducted three face-to-face and four virtual semistructured interviews using the Zoom application with seven SRB owners in the New Jersey area to understand the strategy used to choose the right technology to achieve SCAs. I developed a rapport with the participants by using an interview protocol (see Appendix A). I asked open-ended questions to understand the strategies participants used to select the right technology to help their business achieve SCAs. The duration of each interview session was approximately 60-120 minutes.

All the participants confirmed that technology plays a crucial role in their operational success. The participants provided examples of the difficulties they encountered before using specific technology solutions. These examples further understanding of the strategies the SRB owners use to select the right technology to achieve SCAs. The three themes that emerged from the data gathering efforts revealed some of the factors SRB owners consider before choosing the right technology for their business. These were (a) customer relationship management, (b) marketing, and (c) process improvement.

### **Theme 1: Customer Relationship Management**

Kim and Wang (2019) defined CRM as a firm's ability to integrate and convert social media networking activities to desired sales revenue and customer-relationship outcomes. All of the participants in this study identified different aspects of CRM that their technology helps them manage and improve. Some of the CRM components that the participants identified as essential determinants of their technology selection are as follows: (a) convenience, (b) relationship development and management, and (c) customer information storage.

# Convenience

Convenience is a factor that SRB owners should include in their strategies to select the right technology to achieve SCAs. Participant F indicated that they use Aquity scheduling because it is a convenient solution that works for their customers. When customers want to connect with Participant F, using Aquity scheduling helps facilitate easy and convenient interactions. Additionally, Participant F is able to provide their package offerings to their clients to select an option and make payments on the same platform. Similarly, Participant B mentioned convenience as one of their technology platform's benefits because having a website helps them respond quickly from their phone to website visitors' questions. Participant C uses The Cut application to manage appointments daily with their customers. Similar to Participant B, Participant C operates The Cuts application from their phone, making booking appointments easy for the Participant and their customers. The appointment scheduler via The Cut helps Participant C avoid double-booking customers, and it also allows the participant to take breaks, which aids operating effectively. Participant D noted the ease of using the Clover POS system which has a phone application that allows users to gather business statistics in real-time and make effective decisions.

Similarly, Participant E referenced the ease and simplicity that paperless technology such as email and social media direct messaging systems offer in managing all the stages involved in providing services to their customers. Participant E noted that paperless platforms such as Facebook, Instagram, and their website, allow them to collaborate better and more efficiently with their customers. All the participants' feedback confirms that convenience is an essential factor to consider when selecting technology to help achieve SCAs. SRB owners should consider how convenient their technology is for both the customers and the business manager.

#### **Relationship Development and Management**

Most SRB owners generate sales by building and managing relationships with people in their local and extended community. Technology platforms may provide business owners access to more people, helping them develop more connections and more significant sales. Participant A stated that they use social media platforms like Facebook and Instagram to manage their interactions with customers and build relationships essential to their success. Similarly, Participant C noted that using The Cuts application to schedule appointments helps them deliver prompt services with their best efforts. Furthermore, Participant C's customers often have a great experience, which helps build useful Google Reviews that help attract new customers and aids achieving SCAs.

Participant B indicated that using their technology platforms, such as their website, Instagram, and Facebook accounts, allows them to interact with inquirers and quickly solve their concerns, which is instrumental to their success strategy. Furthermore, Participant B emphasized that they use their Facebook and Instagram business pages to connect inquirers to business owners to provide solutions to their requests or inquiries. As part of my observation protocol, I tested Participant B's website interactive modal screen. The interactive screen allows website visitors to ask Participant B questions about their services and solutions. I received a message back from Participant B in less than 5 minutes. I disclosed to Participant B that I was conducting a test of their technology's effectiveness in supporting customer interactions and inquirers. Participant B noted that they received the message on their phone, making it easy to respond quickly and build relationship seamlessly.

Participant D indicated that they have many people attentive to their posts on Instagram; hence, they use the tool to interact and manage customer relationships. Participant D noted that internet-based review platforms such as Google Review could be challenging to business owners because people often provide a review when they have a terrible experience. However, most people do not review when they have a good or an okay experience. Participant D stressed the importance of managing their Google Review platform because it also helps build a relationship with old, current, prospective, and unhappy customers.

Participant G stated that their business stays competitive because of word-ofmouth outreach. People typically spread the word about business solutions that met their expectations. Hence participant G noted that word-of-mouth outreach is only possible because they foster excellent relationships with their clients to meet their needs. When word-of-mouth and technology are combined, participant G noted that their company is more competitive and able to provide relevant and valuable goods and services to their customers. Participant G further indicated that word of mouth sometimes spreads faster than technology. Hence, Managing Google Reviews, interacting on Facebook or Instagram, collecting consumer feedback, developing an interactive modal screen, building word-of-mouth outreach, etc., are ways the SRB owners interviewed developed and managed relationships with people outside their immediate reach. Therefore, SRB owners might achieve SCAs by selecting technology that helps them grow and manage relationships with people within and outside their community.

#### **Customer Information Storage**

Storing customer information such as customer name, email address, purchase details, etc., helps SRB owners gather data that they can use to make decisions about their business. Participant A noted that their best practice is to store information about the people they have connected with for follow-up purposes. Participant A indicated that they have a high Facebook rating because they follow up with old and new customers, which is evidence of the value created via their technology platforms such as Facebook and Instagram.

Similarly, Participant B noted that a database is attached to their website for storing customer and client information. Participant B stated that they use the customer and client data to provide leads to business owners who subscribe to their services. Additionally, Participant B also indicated that they use the customer and client data for follow-up purposes, which sometimes leads to renewed sales or referrals. Participant G noted that they still use an old POS system; however, when they are ready to switch to a new system, they would purchase a system that helps them save customer information for follow-up and marketing purposes. **Therefore**, when SRB owners are developing strategies for technology selection to achieve SCAs, they should consider how the technology helps them keep a record of customer information for follow-up and customer relationship purposes.

# Theme 2: Marketing

Marketing was another concept that all the participants identified as a factor to consider for selecting or using technology to achieve SCAs. The participants discussed how they used their technology for one or more of the following marketing purposes: (a) create awareness, (b) generate new or prospective sales leads, and (c) differentiate offering. The participants agreed that using technology for one or more marketing purposes could lead to SCAs. Therefore, other business owners should consider developing a strategy for using technology to market their products and services to aid achieving SCAs.

#### **Create Awareness**

Creating awareness about SRB owners' products or services may help boost sales and generate repeat customers. Participant A noted that they are always looking for ways to invest and grow their business. Additionally, Participant A indicated that they love using technology daily because technology has helped them grow their business. Hence, Participant A stated that technology platforms like Facebook and Instagram help create awareness about their products or services. Furthermore, Participant A noted that old systems like using fliers to create awareness had made way for newer methods available via social media platforms. With social media platforms like Facebook and Instagram, business owners have access to a broader base of potential customers to showcase their craft.

Participant B noted that they use their website to showcase other vendors' works within their network to create awareness about their business. Additionally, Participant C stated that they use Facebook to show their work's progression and remind people they are still around. Participant C also called out Google Review as a platform they use to generate and maintain sales for their business's competitiveness. Similarly, Participant D recounted that they had to find a way to reach out to their target market after setting up their restaurant business. Hence, participant D invested time and resources into Facebook and Instagram marketing. Participant D also noted that they use social media platforms to track their business reach. Additionally, Participant D indicated that they invest in Instagram promotions to increase their business network and brand awareness.

Participant E listed social media platforms like Instagram and Facebook as platforms that help them market their business and create an online portfolio of their works to attract people looking to get similar services. For that reason, Participant E indicated that they do target marketing via Facebook and Instagram to reach specific audiences and showcase their portfolio. Similarly, Participant G indicated that their strategy for switching from old to new technology is to advertise on platforms their customers use frequently. Additionally, Participant G noted that they consider what platform can help them reach a bigger audience. Participant G gave an example of newspaper ads as an old method of advertising their business. However, because most people are more on their phones even when searching for news, participant G had to retire newspaper ads and move to digital advertising platforms via on social media and other digital avenues. All the participants above confirmed that they use technology to create business awareness. Hence, SRB owners should review some technologies' potential to help build business awareness when developing their technology selection strategies to achieve SCAs.

#### Generate New or Prospective Sales Leads

Some participants discussed how their technology platforms provided a marketing tool that helped generate sales leads and attract former or new customers. For example, Participant A stated that they wasted no time getting familiar with the different social media platforms like Facebook and Instagram; using the social media to market and generate new customers. Participant A also noted that COVID-19 pandemic affected their business negatively. Therefore, social media platforms like Instagram and Facebook provided an avenue for Participant A to create awareness about their operational safety steps, motivating customers to patronize their business. Similarly, Participant G used the COVID-19 crisis as an example of how their technology has helped them evolve. Participant G noted that they used Amazon and eBay platforms more during the COVID-19 shutdown, which helped their business continue operating despite the lockdown that forced companies like theirs to close temporarily.

Participant B noted that Facebook is undoubtedly another powerful channel to connect with vendors and potential clients. Participant B also stated that their daily Facebook postings surely help generate leads for their vendors or subscribers while also engaging their Facebook platform followers. Hence, Participant B indicated that the contents they post on Facebook and Instagram platforms are marketing tools they use to attract similar-minded people to their Facebook platform and potentially convert to their customers. Participant C expressed a similar view by stating that they use The Cut application to help potential clients in other states and regions know about their barbering business and possibly book an appointment with them when the customers are in their city. The participants' feedback indicates that the technology they use helps them generate sales leads essential to their success. Other SRB owners should consider the sales-generating potential as a factor necessary for selecting the right technology to achieve SCAs.

## Differentiate Offerings

Two of the participants interviewed offer the same type of services and operate their businesses side-by-side. However, both business owners noted that they achieve SCAs because they successfully differentiate and brand their business. Participant D noted that appearance matters; therefore, they use Instagram to present their dishes to their target audience, which boosts the business image and brand, and helps differentiate their business. Similarly, Participant F stated that because people review their business via their marketer's Facebook, Instagram, and Website platforms and share feedback about their experiences, they can retain former and attract new ones. Differentiation helps business owners separate themselves from competitors and improve competitive advantages. Participant A indicated that the more they invested their time, effort, and money on platforms like Facebook, the more they benefited from the exposure that helped improve their business's competitiveness. Furthermore, Participant A stated that using Facebook and Instagram allows them to differentiate themselves while attracting former and new customers as a trendsetter in the hair coloring style business. Similarly, Participant C noted that The Cut application enables them post pictures of their recent customers' haircuts, which helps differentiate their company from competitors. Participant E also emphasized that they have been able to showcase their portfolio online with technology such as Facebook and Instagram, distinguishing their business image and brand from competitors.

Participant F noted that they have a subscription with a marketer who helps showcase their brand on different platforms. Participant G indicated that they try to stay current with the products and services they offer and advertise as much as possible to differentiate themselves from their competitors. In conclusion, all the participant agreed that one of the advantages of marketing is that it helps with product or service differentiation. Therefore, SRB owners should consider technology that allows them to differentiate themselves as part of the strategy for selecting the right technology solution to aid SCAs.

#### **Theme 3: Process Improvement**

The participants reflected on how the technology they use has led to process improvements such as better business tools and solutions, better customer-focused processes, increased revenue, and more cost savings. Hence, another strategy SRB owners could add to their technology selection process is to consider how the technology could lead to process improvements. Participant F stated that although they considered cost when thinking about moving from old to new or different technology, process improvement was still crucial in the decision-making process. Participant F indicated that Honeybook was a cheaper and more effective solution that made working with their clients easier. Using Honeybook allowed participant F to present all their packages offering and enable their customer to sign a contractual agreement and make payments on the same platform. The old technology Participant F used could not support all the listed functionalities on one platform. Participant F could only share package details but not take payment or sign/edit contracts via the same avenue.

Similarly, Participant B indicated that having a large following on Instagram has helped them stay updated and evolve as changes occur, which is crucial to achieving SCAs. Participants A, D, E, and G noted that one of the factors vital to achieving SCAs is the statistical data on Instagram and Facebook, which have helped them track customers' views and perceptions and implement some business changes in real-time. Using statistical data to make changes to business processes is another way technology can facilitate process improvement. Additionally, Participant E noted that before the COVID-19 pandemic, they conducted and preferred having face-to-face meetings with their clients. However, technology platforms such as Zoom and Skype have helped them embrace the convenience and enjoy the advantages of conducting virtual meetings. Hence, SRB owners should consider the potential for process improvement when creating a strategy for technology selection to achieve SCAs.

#### **Applications to Professional Practice**

This study's findings could be applied to the professional practice of how SRB owners develop strategies to select the appropriate technology to achieve SCAs. Hussein et al. (2017) noted that unsuccessful SRB owners sometimes fail to achieve SCAs due to a lack of investment in updated technology. The study results provide a lens into the factors successful SRB owners consider when selecting technology to achieve SCAs. This qualitative study could help SRB owners understand the factors to consider when developing strategies to choose the right technology to aid SCAs. The technology selection strategies used by successful SRB owners might help other SRB owners identify improvement areas in their operational procedures.

This study's information may help SRB owners discover some of the technology tools that other business owners use to achieve SCAs. Participants B noted that they invested in their business by attending a training program to develop and grow their business. Additionally, Participant B indicated that the training focused on social media's power.

This study's findings could be applied to professional practices by helping SRB owners understand the factors that successful business owners consider before selecting some technology solutions, such as social media platforms like Instagram, Facebook, etc. For example, Participants A, B, E, and G discussed how they gather statistical information from Instagram and Facebook to improve their marketing reach, attract new customers, and generate more significant revenue. Hence, the correlation between the analytical and statical data gathered on Instagram and Facebook platforms helping improve SRB marketing and leading to increased business revenues applies to the professional practice of how the business communities can enhance their sales revenue and achieve SCAs.

Social media platforms such as Instagram and Facebook were the primary tools the participants indicated vital for customer relationship management and development. This study's information can also help educate the business community on using specific technology tools and platforms that may aid SCAs. Perhaps some SRB owners never really considered certain functionalities on the same or similar technology platform to achieve their business objectives. Faran and Chaudhry (2016) determined that only 22% of retail business owners invested in learning new technology and innovation through their research and development. The findings from this qualitative multiple case study may help SRB owners develop their strategy to identify, select, and implement new technology based on practices associated with the RBT to achieve SCAs.

## **Implications for Social Change**

This study's findings apply to social change by providing SRB owners with information on what to consider when developing technology selection strategies to help achieve SCAs. The implications for positive social change include the potential to positively contribute strategies and knowledge that retailers can use to facilitate communication and consumer transactions. Implementation of these strategies could allow retailers to be more efficient and competitive, which could boost local economies. Using this study's information may also help consumers appreciate the SRB owners' products or services and improve economics, customer satisfaction, and a sense of accomplishment.

Use of this study could help SRB owners learn how to market their products and services better, which can help consumers quickly identify and connect with SRB owners. Other positive impacts of this study may include helping SRB owners discover how to improve their operational procedures, leading to more efficient SRBs. The study's findings might be used to help local economies expand and improve the morale of stakeholders.

## **Recommendations for Action**

The recommendations of action based on the findings of this study include (a) create social media business accounts on platforms such as Facebook and Instagram to build and manage customer relationships; (b) invest time on social media business accounts to showcases products and services; (c) invest in technology solutions that make it easier to do business, e.g., Aquity where customers can select packages and also make payments; and (d) invest in technology solutions that provide statistical information about business performance such as POS system, Facebook, and Instagram accounts.

SRB owners generally should pay attention to the recommendations for action listed above. SRB owners especially who are either struggling or do not necessarily have a strategy for selecting the appropriate technology to achieve SCAs should pay attention to the recommendation of actions. Additionally, business owners who are successful but do not necessarily use the recommendations for action listed above should also pay attention to the above guidelines. Although some business owners might be achieving competitive advantages without adopting the recommendations for action provided for this study, such business owners should still pay attention to the guidance provided to ensure SCAs.

I will disseminate this study's information to the research participants to provide them with the study's summary and findings. The study information will also be available on ProQuest/UMI dissertation database for review. Finally, I plan to share the information from this study in public speaking with SRB owners in non-profit SRB owner forums to help them understand how they can develop strategies to select the appropriate technology to achieve SCAs.

# **Recommendations for Further Research**

This study focused on the strategies SRB owners use to select the right technology to achieve SCAs; therefore, I gathered data by interviewing SRB owners in the New Jersey area who were successfully using technology to achieve SCAs. Seven SRB owners in the U.S. state of New Jersey participated in the study, and I gathered and analyzed the interview and observation data to uncover the participant's technology selection strategies. Some of the study's limitations included limiting the study participants to successful SRB owners in the U.S. state of New Jersey and not including unsuccessful SRB owners as participants. I also limited the study sample size to seven participants, which was large enough to achieve data saturation. However, restricting the sample size to a few SRB owners in New Jersey may have limited the research conclusions' transferability, which future researchers will determine based on their research objectives. Further studies related to improving business practice should investigate the correlation between SRB owners achieving SCAs and using social media for marketing and promotional purposes. Future studies can further explore the level of correlation between using statistical data from Facebook, Instagram, or via POS systems and SRB owners experiencing increased sales revenue and achieving SCAs. Researching how SRB owners use technology to market their business and how they use statistical data to make informed decisions might add insight into the importance of having technology selection strategies to achieve SCAs.

#### Reflections

When I started my DBA journey, I remember asking myself how my study would make a real difference in business practice. I did my best writing my significance of the study, contribution to business practice, and implications for social change in Section 1 of the doctoral study document based on my ideas of how my study will contribute to the business community. However, I felt something was missing regarding the potential to add to the business and educational community's knowledge body. Once I got to Section 2, several factors began to affect my ability to stay committed to my DBA journey.

Factors beyond my control led to the change of my first chairperson. I got assigned to a second chairperson, who helped me get started on Section 2 of my study. However, I had to drop out of school due to personal life-changing events. After two semesters off, I continued my DBA journey with a third chairperson who helped me fully develop Section 2. However, we encountered some difficulties getting my study approved, which led me to my fourth chairperson assignment after some frustrating processes. I honestly cannot thank Dr. Dwyer enough for motivating me, pushing me, and encouraging me to complete my capstone despite my previous experiences. My fourth chairperson took over as my new chair midway through an 8-week session and surpassed my expectations with both of us working together with a team of exceptional committee members. I received the approval of my Section 2 document before the end of the 8-week session. My fourth chairperson also got me scheduled for my proposal oral defense, which I passed and was approved to start work on Section 3, all within 4 weeks of having taken over as my new chairperson. I received my IRB approval the first week of my second session with the fourth chairperson's and the committee members' help. I completed data gathering before the end of the second session. I was so shocked with how far I had gotten; it was almost unbelievable.

After two sessions with my new chairperson, I took one session off because my wife was pregnant. However, I promised my new chairperson I would only be out for one session. After taking one session off, I started work on finalizing my document in what would be my third session with the fourth chairperson. Knowing that my wife would soon deliver our baby, my new chairperson encouraged me early to complete my document's final draft before the end of Week 5. Almost like my new chairperson knew my wife's delivery date because 4 weeks into the 8-week session, my wife had our baby boy. As this bundle of joy blessed our home with his presence, I was determined to stick with the plan of finishing my document as planned by Week 5 of the 8-week session.

Suddenly, the missing pieces of my study began to unfold. The information was always available to me; it was the interpretation that I was over-thinking. Technology has become so advanced that many SRB owners' solutions are simple everyday tools such as Facebook and Instagram. I began to understand the real difference my research could provide to business practice. Some business owners do not fully comprehend how to develop technology strategies to achieve SCAs. Some business owners can learn about using different technology to achieve SCAs by investing in training or research programs. However, Faran and Chaudhry (2016) determined that only 22% of retail business owners invested in learning new technology and innovation through their research and development. One of the participants I interviewed noted that they invested in their business by attending a training program to develop and grow their business. The participant indicated that the training focused on social media's power.

Not all business owners can pay to attend a training program for different reasons. However, my study findings may apply to professional practice by helping SRB owners understand the factors that other business owners consider before selecting some technology solutions, e.g., Instagram, Facebook, Aquity, The Cuts, Glover, etc. For example, four of the participants discussed how they gather statistical information from Instagram and Facebook to improve their marketing reach, attract new customers, and generate more significant revenue. Hence, the correlation between the analytical and statical data gathered on Instagram and Facebook platforms helping improve SRB marketing and leading to increased business revenues applies to the professional practice of how the business communities can enhance their sales revenue and achieve SCAs.

In summary, the journey was not without different forks along the way. However, it was all worth it in the end. I am delighted to contribute to the body of knowledge. I

hope my study helps some struggling SRB owners or even successful business owners develop successful technology selection strategies, propelling them to SCAs.

## Conclusion

Several factors can help SRB owners achieve SCAs, such as access to capital resources, financial resources, human resources, technological resources, marketing resources, etc. However, technology is one factor that provides a bridge to other factors. Hence, SRB owners may benefit by understanding the ways technology can impact their business, thus, developing a technology selection strategy that optimizes the intended benefit of adopting specific technology.

This qualitative multiple case study contributes to the research of SRB owners developing technology selection strategies to achieve SCAs. The data gathered and analyzed provided three themes SRB owners can consider when developing technology selection strategies: (a) customer relationship management, (b) marketing, and (c) process improvement. SRB owners may consider how current or future technologies can help them optimize the above-identified themes. The RBT was the conceptual framework that established the foundation of this study. Edwards et al. (2015) reported that the RBT's fundamental constructs are the VRIO framework. The implications for positive social change include the potential to foster local communities' economies by helping SRB owners develop strategies and knowledge beneficial to facilitating customer relationship management and improving business transactions. The business practice significance is that SRB owners must learn the importance of technology and develop strategies to select the appropriate technology to achieve SCAs.

#### References

- Adashi, E. Y., Walters, L. B., & Menikoff, J. A. (2018). The *Belmont Report* at 40: Reckoning with time. *American Journal of Public Health*, 108(10), 1345–1348. <u>https://doi.org/10.2105/AJPH.2018.304580</u>
- Agnihotri, A. (2016). Extending boundaries of Blue Ocean Strategy. *Journal of Strategic Marketing*, 24(6), 519–528. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/0965254X.2015.1069882</u>
- Ajmera, P. (2017). Ranking the strategies for Indian medical tourism sector through the integration of SWOT analysis and TOPSIS method. *International Journal of Health Care Quality Assurance, 30*(8), 668–679.

https://doi.org/10.1108/IJHCQA-05-2016-0073

- Aladhadh, S., Zhang, X., & Sanderson, M. (2019). Location impact on source and linguistic features for information credibility of social media. *Online Information Review*, 44(1), 89–112. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/OIR-03-2018-0087</u>
- Aldiabat, K. M., & Le Navenec, C. (2018). Data saturation: The mysterious step in grounded theory methodology. *The Qualitative Report*, 23(1), 245–261. <u>https://nsuworks.nova.edu/tqr/vol23/iss1/18</u>
- Alford, P., & Page, S. J. (2015). Marketing technology for adoption by small business. *The Service Industries Journal*, 35(11-12), 655–669. https://doi.org/10.1080/02642069.2015.1062884
- AlHarbi, A., Heavin, C., & Carton, F. (2016). Improving customer oriented decision making through the customer interaction approach. *Journal of Decision Systems,* 25 (Supp1), 50–63. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/12460125.2016.1187417</u>

- Almada, L., & Borges, R. (2018). Sustainable competitive advantage needs green human resource practices: A framework for environmental management. *Revista De Administração Contemporânea*, 22(23), 424–442. <u>https://doi.org/10.1590/1982-</u> 7849rac2018170345
- Alshenqeeti, H. (2014). Interviewing as a data collection method: A critical review. *English Linguistics Research*, 3(1), 39–45. <u>https://doi.org/10.5430/elr.v3n1p39</u>
- Amit, R., & Schoemaker, P. (2012). Strategic assets and organizational rent. *Strategic Management Journal*, 14, 33–46. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/smj.4250140105</u>
- Anastasia, C. (2015). Exploring definitions of small business and why it is so difficult. Journal of Management Policy and Practice, 16(4), 88–99. <u>http://www.na-</u> businesspress.com/JMPP/AnastasiaC Web16 4 .pdf
- Arbi, K. A., Bukhari, S. A. H., & Saadat, Z. (2017). Theoretical framework for taxonomizing sources of competitive advantage. *Management Research and Practice*, 9(4), 48–60. <u>http://mrp.ase.ro/no94/f4.pdf</u>
- Armstrong, A., & Yongqiang, L. (2017). An evaluation of small business policy initiatives intended to stimulate regional development. In L. Yongqiang, A. Hunjet, & A. Roncevic (Eds.), *Economic and social development (Book of Proceedings): 20th International Scientific Conference on Economic and Social Development* (pp. 676–682). Varazdin Development and Entrepreneurship Agency in cooperation with City of Prague, University North, Croatia, and Faculty of Management, University of Warsaw, Poland.

https://bib.irb.hr/datoteka/983301.Book\_of\_Proceedings\_esdPrague\_2017.pdf#pa ge=685

- Arraya, M. A. M., & Porfírio, J. A. (2017). Training delivery methods as source of dynamic capabilities: The case of sports' organisations. *European Journal of Training and Development*, 41(4), 354–372. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/EJTD-02-2016-0012</u>
- Arvie, D., & Tanaamah, A. R. (2019). Technology acceptance model for evaluating IT of online based transportation acceptance: A case of Go-Jek in Salatiga. *Telkomnika*, 17(2), 667–675. <u>https://doi.org/10.12928/TELKOMNIKA.V17i2.9634</u>
- Aslam, S. A. M., Teo, M., Ashantha, G., Ziyath, A. M., & Nianthi, K. W. G. R. (2020).
  Surrogate measures to assess mobility of people as a resilience indicator in disaster management: An exploratory study in southeastern Sri Lanka. *International Journal of Disaster Risk Science*, 11(1), 13–31.

https://doi.org/10.1007/s13753-020-00251-4

- Assensoh-Kodua, A. (2019). The resource-based view: A tool of key competency for competitive advantage. *Problems and Perspectives in Management*, 17(3), 143– 152. <u>https://doi.org/10.21511/ppm.17(3).2019.12</u>
- Azungah, T. (2018). Qualitative research: Deductive and inductive approaches to data analysis. *Qualitative Research Journal*, 18(4), 383–400. https://doi.org/10.1108/QRJ-D-18-00035

- Bai, Y. (2018). The application of customer relationship management and data mining in Chinese insurance companies. *Management & Engineering*, 31, 25–31. https://doi.org/0.5503/J.ME.2018.31.004h
- Balashova, E. S., & Gromova, E. A. (2016). Resource-based view as a perspective management model in Russian reality. *Problems and Perspectives in Management*, 14(2), 325–330. <u>https://doi.org/10.21511/ppm.14(2-2).2016.08</u>
- Barclay, W. (2019). Small businesses make big impact on local economy. *The Business Journal Central New York*, 33(1), 13. <u>https://www.cnybj.com</u>
- Barney, J. B. (1991). Firm resources and sustained competitive advantage. *Journal of Management, 17*(1), 99–120. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0742-3322(00)17018-4</u>
- Barney, J. B. (1995). Looking inside for competitive advantage. *Academy of Management Perspectives*, 9(4), 49–61. <u>https://doi.org/10.5465/AME.1995.9512032192</u>
- Barney, J. B. (2002). Strategic management: from informed conversation to academic discipline. Academy of Management Perspectives, 16(2), 53–57. https://doi.org/10.5465/AME.2002.7173521
- Bashir, M., & Verma, R. (2017). Why business model innovation is the new competitive advantage. *IUP Journal of Business Strategy*, *14*(1), 7–11.
  <a href="https://www.researchgate.net/profile/Makhmoor\_Bashir3/publication/316644311\_Why\_Business\_Model\_Innovation\_is\_the\_New\_Competitive\_Advantage/links/5a4f02eda6fdcc7b3cda8858/Why-Business-Model-Innovation-is-the-New-Competitive-Advantage.pdf">https://www.researchgate.net/profile/Makhmoor\_Bashir3/publication/316644311\_Why\_Business\_Model\_Innovation\_is\_the\_New\_Competitive\_Advantage/links/5a4f02eda6fdcc7b3cda8858/Why-Business-Model-Innovation-is-the-New-Competitive-Advantage.pdf

- Batko, K. (2017). Relation between dynamic analytical capabilities and competitive advantage: Theoretical approach. *Ekonomia i Prawo. Economics and Law, 16*(3), 259–273. <u>https://doi.org/10.12775/EiP.2017.018</u>
- Baxter, P., & Jack, S. (2008). Qualitative case study methodology: Study design and implementation for novice researchers. *The Qualitative Report*, 13(4), 544–559. <u>http://citeseerx.ist.psu.edu/viewdoc/download?doi=10.1.1.666.2447&rep=rep1&t</u> <u>ype=pdf</u>
- Bhat, S. A., & Darzi, M. A. (2018). Service, people and customer orientation: A capability view to CRM and sustainable competitive advantage. *Vision*, 22(2), 163–173. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0972262918766132</u>
- Bishop, R. C., & Boyle, K. J. (2019). Reliability and validity in nonmarket valuation. *Environmental and Resource Economics*, 72(2), 559–582. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10640-017-0215-7
- Blackler, F. (1995). Knowledge, knowledge work, and organizations: An overview and interpretation. Organization Studies, 16(6), 1021–1046. https://doi.org/10.1177/017084069501600605h
- Boxall, P. (1996). The strategic HRM debate and the resource □ based view of the firm. *Human Resource Management Journal*, 6(3), 59–75. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1748-8583.1996.tb00412.x
- Brown, A., & Danaher, P. A. (2019). CHE principles: Facilitating authentic and dialogical semi-structured interviews in educational research. *International*

*Journal of Research & Method in Education, 42*(1), 76–90.

https://doi.org/10.1080/1743727X.2017.1379987

Candela, A. G. (2019). Exploring the function of member checking. *The Qualitative Report, 24*(3), 619–628. <u>https://nsuworks.nova.edu/tqr/vol24/iss3/14/</u>

Castillo-Montoya, M. (2016). Preparing for interview research: The interview protocol refinement framework. *Qualitative Report*, 21(5), 811. https://nsuworks.nova.edu/tgr/vol21/iss5/2/

- Cazan, A.-M. (2012). Assessing self-regulated learning: Qualitative vs quantitative research methods. *Scientific Research & Education in the Air Force*, 1, 307–312. http://www.afahc.ro/ro/afases/2012/socio/2.2/cazan.pdf
- Chambers, J. (2018). *Graphical methods for data analysis*. CRC Press. <u>https://doi.org/10.1201/9781351072304</u>
- Clark, K., Duckham, M., Guillemin, M., Hunter, A., McVernon, J., O'Keefe, C., Pitkin, C., Prawer, S., Sinnott, R., Warr, D., & Waycott, J. (2019). Advancing the ethical use of digital data in human research: challenges and strategies to promote ethical practice. *Ethics and Information Technology*, 21(1), 59–73.

https://doi.org/10.1007/s10676-018-9490-4

Coffey, A., & Atkinson, P. (1996). *Making sense of qualitative data: Complementary research strategies.* Sage Publications, Inc.

Computer Economics. (2012, June). CRM adoption rate jumps.

https://www.computereconomics.com/article.cfm?id=1739

Cope, D. G. (2014). Methods and meanings: Credibility and trustworthiness of qualitative research. *Oncology nursing forum, 41*(1), 89–91.

https://doi.org/10.1188/14.ONF.89-91

- Corbin, J., & Strauss, A. (2015). *Basics of qualitative research techniques and* procedures for developing grounded theory. Sage Publications Inc.
- Coyne, K. P. (1986). Sustainable competitive advantage-What it is, what it isn't. *Business Horizons*, *29*(1), 54–61. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/0007-6813(86)90087-X</u>
- Croix, A., Barrett, A., & Stenfors, T. (2018). How to do research interviews in different ways. *Clinical Teacher*, *15*(6), 451–456. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/tct.12953</u>
- Cunliffe, A. L. (2010). Retelling tales of the field. *Organizational Research Methods*, 13(2), 224–239. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1094428109340041</u>

Curry, M., Marshall, B., & Kawalek, P. (2017). A normative model for assessing SME IT effectiveness. *Communications of the IIMA*, *15*(1), 35–60.
 <a href="https://www.researchgate.net/profile/Michael\_Curry5/publication/309734722\_A">https://www.researchgate.net/profile/Michael\_Curry5/publication/309734722\_A</a>
 <a href="https://www.researchgate.net/profile/Michael\_Curry5/publication/309734722\_A">https://www.researchgate.net/profile/Michael\_Curry5/publication/309734722\_A</a>
 <a href="https://www.researchgate.net/profile/Michael\_SME\_IT\_Effectiveness/links/5820a5b408aea4">https://www.researchgate.net/profile/Michael\_Curry5/publication/309734722\_A</a>
 <a href="https://www.networks

- Daniel, K. (2019). Using the TACT framework to learn the principles of rigour in qualitative research. *Electronic Journal of Business Research Methods*, 17(3), 118–129. https://doi.org/10.34190/JBRM.17.3.002
- Davis, P. J. (2017). How to realize strategy and build competitive advantage through your people: Increase resource heterogeneity; decrease resource mobility. *Human*

Resource Management International Digest, 25(4), 7–9.

https://doi.org/10.1108/HRMID-01-2017-0019

- Day, G. S. (2014). An outside-in approach to resource-based theories. *Journal of the Academy of Marketing Science*, 42(1), 27–28. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11747-</u> 013-0348-3
- Decker, R., Haltiwanger, J., Jarmin, R., & Miranda, J. (2014). The role of entrepreneurship in US job creation and economic dynamism. *Journal of Economic Perspectives*, 28(3), 3–24. <u>https://doi.org/10.1257/jep.28.3.3</u>
- de los Santos, E., & Zanca, N. (2018). Transitioning to online: A SWOT analysis by first time online business faculty. *The e-Journal of Business Education & Scholarship of Teaching*, *12*(3), 69–84. https://eric.ed.gov/?id=EJ1203826
- Di Vesta, F. J., & Gray, G. S. (1972). Listening and note taking. *Journal of educational* psychology, 63(1), 8–11.

https://pdfs.semanticscholar.org/888a/8bb52682718e562b71048cc690e54470fb8e .pdf?\_ga=2.127793293.1412210110.1589518053-1114799039.1589518053

Dost, M., Munwar, H. P., Hussain, B. M., & Waheed, A. U. (2019). Effects of sources of knowledge on frugal innovation: Moderating role of environmental turbulence. *Journal of Knowledge Management*, 23(7), 1245–1259.

https://doi.org/10.1108/JKM-01-2019-0035

Dubois, A., & Gadde, L. E. (2002). Systematic combining: An abductive approach to case research. *Journal of Business Research*, 55(7), 553–560. https://doi.org/1016/S0148-2963(00)00195-8

- Dyer, J. H., Godfrey, P., Jensen, R., & Bryce, D. (2017). *Strategic management: Concepts and cases.* (2nd ed.) John Wiley & Sons.
- Edwards, J., Try, D., Ketchen, D., & Short, J. (2015). *Mastering strategic management: Evaluation and execution*. University of Minnesota Libraries Publishing.

Ejimabo, N. O. (2015). The effective research process: Unlocking the advantages of ethnographic strategies in the qualitative research methods. *European Scientific Journal*, 11(23), 356–383.

https://eujournal.org/index.php/esj/article/view/6090/5867

- Eker, M., & Eker, S. (2019). Exploring the relationships between environmental uncertainty, business strategy and management control system on firm performance. *Business and Economics Research Journal*, 10(1), 115–130. <u>https://doi.org/ 10.20409/berj.2019.158</u>
- El Ebrashi, R. (2018). Typology of growth strategies and the role of social venture's intangible resources. *Journal of Small Business and Enterprise Development*, 25(5), 818–848. https://doi.org/10.1108/JSBED-03-2017-0104
- Elliott, K. M., Hall, M. C., & Meng, J. (. (2013). Consumers' intention to use selfscanning technology: The role of technology readiness and perceptions towards self-service technology. *Academy of Marketing Studies Journal*, 17(1), 129–143. <u>https://www.abacademies.org/articles/amsjvol17no12013.pdf#page=137</u>
- Elo, S., Kääriäinen, M., K. O., Pölkki, T., Utriainen, K., & Kyngäs, H. (2014).
   Qualitative content analysis: A focus on trustworthiness. *Sage Open, 4*(1), 1–10.
   <a href="https://doi.org/10.1177/215824401452263">https://doi.org/10.1177/215824401452263</a>

 Faran, M., & Chaudhry, A. (2016). Innovation and technological upgrading in Lahore: Results from the LCCI business confidence survey 2016. *The Lahore Journal of Economics, 21*, 393–415.
 <u>http://lahoreschoolofeconomics.edu.pk/EconomicsJournal/Journals/Volume%202</u>

1/Issue%20SP/17%20Faran%20and%20Chaudhry.pdf

- Ferreira, A. I., Cardoso, C., & Braun, T. (2018). The mediating effects of ego-resilience in the relationship between organizational support and resistance to change. *Baltic Journal of Management*, 13(1), 104–124. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/BJM-06-2017-</u> 0171/full/html
- FitzPatrick, B. (2019). Validity in qualitative health education research. *Currents in Pharmacy Teaching & Learning, 11*(2), 211–217.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cptl.2018.11.014

- Fuller, T. (1996). Fulfilling IT needs in small businesses; A recursive learning model. International Small Business Journal, 14(4), 25–44. https://doi.org/10.1177/0266242696144002
- Furnival, J., Boaden, R., & Walshe, K. (2018). Assessing improvement capability in healthcare organisations: A qualitative study of healthcare regulatory agencies in the UK. *International Journal for Quality in Health Care, 30*(9), 715–723. https://doi.org/ 10.1093/intqhc/mzy085
- Fusch, P., & Ness, L. R. (2015). Are we there yet? Data saturation in qualitative research. Qualitative Report, 20(9), 1408–1416.

https://works.bepress.com/d101mentor/4/download/

- Garg, S., Pandey, D. K., & Vashisht, A. (2018). Importance of knowledge management for organizational management. *Deliberative Research*, 37(1), 41–45. <u>https://search.proquest.com/docview/2086689358?pq-</u> <u>origsite=gscholar&fromopenview=true</u>
- Gibson, T.D., Tongwa, A.F., Bari, S., Chantry, G., Gupta, M., Molina, J.G., Shresha, N., Norton, J., Parajuli, B., Rahmawati, H., & Aretaake, R. (2019). Drawing the case studies together: Synthesis of case studies and group discussions. *Disaster Prevention and Management, 29*(1), 93–105. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/DPM-07-2018-0223</u>
- Gijo, E. V., Bhat, S., & Jnanesh, N. A. (2014). Application of Six Sigma methodology in a small-scale foundry industry. *International Journal of Lean Six Sigma*, 5(2), 193–211. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/IJLSS-09-2013-005</u>
- Giyarsih, S. R., & Muh, A. M. (2018). The perception of stakeholders on regional transformation on the outskirts of Yogyakarta City, Indonesia. *GeoJournal*, 83(5), 983–991. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10708-017-9812-9</u>
- Godwin-Opara, M. N. (2016). A resource-based perspective on financial resource strategies for small business sustainability (Doctoral dissertation, Walden University). ScholarWorks.
- Godwin, M. (2019). *Small business sustainability for longer than 5 years* (Doctoral dissertation, Walden University). ScholarWorks.

- Grant, A. D., Wolf, G. I., & Nebeker, C. (2019). Approaches to governance of participant-led research: a qualitative case study. *BMJ Open*, 9(4). <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2018-025633</u>
- Greer, C. R., Carr, J. C., & Hipp, L. (2016). Strategic staffing and small-firm performance. *Human Resource Management (Wiley)*, 55(4), 741–764. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/hrm.21693</u>
- Grossoehme, D. (2014). Overview of qualitative research. *Journal of Health Care Chaplaincy, 20*(3), 109–122. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/08854726.2014.925660</u>
- Gustafsson, J. (2017). Single case studies vs. multiple case studies: A comparative study. https://www.diva-portal.org/smash/get/diva2:1064378/FULLTEXT01.pdf
- Gutiérrez-Martínez, I., & Duhamel, F. (2019). Translating sustainability into competitive advantage: The case of Mexico's hospitality industry. *Corporate Governance: The International Journal of Effective Board Performance, 19*(6), 1324–1343.
   <a href="https://doi.org/10.1108/CG-01-2019-0031">https://doi.org/10.1108/CG-01-2019-0031</a>
- Hammersley, M. (1987). Some notes on the terms 'validity' and 'reliability'. *British Educational Research Journal, 13*(1), 73–81.

https://doi.org/10.1080/0141192870130107

Hanfan, A., Setiawan, A. I., & Nupus, H. (2019). Ethnocentric product advantage: A perspective of competitive advantage in small and medium enterprises (SMEs).
 Academy of Marketing Studies Journal, 23, 1–14.

https://www.abacademies.org/articles/Ethnocentric-product-advantage-a-

perspective-of-competitive-advantage-in-small-and-medium-enterprises-1528-2678-23-2-199.pdf

- Harati, H., Nooshinfard, F., Isfandyari-Moghaddam, A., Babalhavaeji, F., & Hariri, N.
  (2019). Factors affecting the unplanned use behavior of academic libraries users. *Aslib Journal of Information Management*, 71(2), 138–154.
  https://doi.org/10.1108/AJIM-04-2018-0092
- Harriss, D., & Atkinson, G. (2015). Ethical standards in sport and exercise science research: 2016 update. *International Journal of Sports Medicine*, 36(14), 1121– 1124. <u>https://doi.org/10.1055/s-0035-1565186</u>
- Hart, S. M., & Warren, A. M. (2013). Understanding nurses' work: Exploring the links between changing work, labor relations, workload, stress, retention, and recruitment. *Economic and Industrial Democracy*, *36*(2), 305–329. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0143831X13505119</u>
- Hayes, J. P., Chawla, S. K., & Kathawala, Y. (2015). A comparative study of problems encountered in the development of small businesses in the US and Mexico. *The Journal of Developing Areas, 49*(3), 395–406.

https://doi.org/10.1353/jda.2015.0175

Healy, P., & Devane, D. (2011). Methodological considerations in cohort study designs. *Nurse Researcher*, *18*(3), 32–36.

https://doi.org/10.7748/nr2011.04.18.3.32.c8461h

Hesso, I., Kayyali, R., & Nabhani-Gebara, S. (2019). Supporting respiratory patients in primary care: a qualitative insight from independent community pharmacists in

London. *BMC health services research*, 19(1), 5–12.

https://doi.org/10.1186/s12913-018-3814-2

- Hettihewa, S., & Wright, C. S. (2018). Nature and importance of small business in regional Australia, with a contrast to studies of urban small businesses. *Australasian Journal of Regional Studies, 24*(1), 96–121.
  https://www.questia.com/
- Hofstra, N., Dullaert, W., De Leeuw, S., & Spiliotopoulou, E. (2019). Individual goals and social preferences in operational decisions. *International Journal of Operations & Production Management*, 40(1), 116–137.
  https://doi.org/10.1108/IJOPM-11-2016-0690
- Hogg, S. (2011). Why small companies have the innovation advantage. *Entrepreneur Magazine*. <u>https://www.entrepreneur.com/article/220558</u>
- Hou, W. L., Ko, N. Y., & Shu, B. C. (2013). Recovery experiences of Taiwanese women after terminating abusive relationships: A phenomenology study. *Journal of Interpersonal Violence*, 28(1). 157–175.

https://doi.org/10.1177/0886260512448851

- House, J. (2018). Authentic vs elicited data and qualitative vs quantitative research methods in pragmatics: Overcoming two non-fruitful dichotomies. *System*, 75, 4–12. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.system.2018.03.014
- Hussein, M., Ahmed, H., & Alraja, M. (2017). The adoption of information and communication technology by small and medium enterprises in Oman: Case of Dhofar region. *Journal of Business and Retail Management Research*, 11(3), 64–

https://www.academia.edu/38584421/The\_adoption\_of\_information\_and\_commu nication\_technology\_by\_small\_and\_medium\_enterprises\_in\_Oman\_Case\_of\_Dh ofar region

- Icy, F. A., Elexpuru-Albizuri, I., & Villardón-Gallego, L. (2019). Revisiting the Belmont report's ethical principles in internet-mediated research: Perspectives from disciplinary associations in the social sciences. *Ethics and Information Technology*, 21(2), 137–149. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10676-018-9495-z</u>
- Iivari, N. (2018). Using member checking in interpretive research practice: A hermeneutic analysis of informants' interpretation of their organizational realities. *Information Technology & People, 31*(1), 111–133. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/ITP-07-2016-0168</u>
- Ismail, M. K., Kumaran, V. V., Sarifuddin, S., Gorondutse, A. H., & Sabarudin, N. A. (2018). Sustainability in retail industry: Competition factors among small retailers and supermarkets agro-food business. *International Journal of Entrepreneurship*, 22, 1–7. <u>https://www.abacademies.org/articles/Sustainability-in-retail-industrycompetition-factors-among-small-retailers-n-agrofood-business-1939-4675-22-SI-198.pdf</u>
- Jardón, C. F., Molodchik, M. and Paklina, S. (2018). Strategic behaviour of Russian companies with regard to intangibles. *Management Decision*, 56(11), 2373–2390. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/MD-04-2017-0399</u>

- Jordan, K. (2018). Validity, reliability, and the case for participant-centered research: Reflections on a multi-platform social media study. *International Journal of Human-Computer Interaction*, 34(10), 913–921. https://doi.org/10.1080/10447318.2018.1471570
- Joubert, Y. T., & Swart, C. (2019). Developing a team performance framework utilising Neethling's thinking style preference instrument. SA Journal of Human Resource Management, 17(1), 1–11. <u>https://doi.org/10.4102/sajhrm.v17i0.1203</u>
- Joubert, G., Steinberg, W. J., & van der Merwe, L. J. (2019). The selection and inclusion of students as research participants in undergraduate medical student projects at the School of Medicine, University of the Free State, Bloemfontein, South Africa, 2002-2017: An ethical perspective. *African Journal of Health Professions Education*, 11(2), 57–62. <u>https://doi.org/10.7196/AJHPE.2019.v11i2.1081</u>
- Kenny, D. A. (2019). Enhancing validity in psychological research. American Psychologist, 74(9), 1018–1028. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/amp0000531</u>
- Kim, H. G., & Wang, Z. (2019). Defining and measuring social customer-relationship management (CRM) capabilities. *Journal of Marketing Analytics*, 7(1), 40–50. <u>https://doi.org/10.1057/s41270-018-0044-8</u>
- Kirkwood, A., & Price, L. (2013). Examining some assumptions and limitations of research on the effects of emerging technologies for teaching and learning in higher education. *British Journal of Educational Technology*, 44(4), 536–543. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/bjet.12049</u>

- Kozlenkova, I. V., Samaha, S. A., & Palmatier, R. W. (2014). Resource-based theory in marketing. *Journal of the Academy of Marketing Science*, 42(1), 1–21. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11747-013-0336-7</u>
- Krol, R. (2017). Economic policy uncertainty and small business decisions. *Cato Journal*, 37(1), 59–68. <u>https://assets.realclear.com/files/2017/04/535\_cj-v37n1-5.pdf</u>
- Laihonen, H., & Mäntylä, S. (2018). Strategic knowledge management and evolving local government. *Journal of Knowledge Management*, 22(1), 219–234. https://doi.org/10.1108/JKM-06-2017-0232h
- Lamptey, E. K., & Singh, R. P. (2018). Fraud risk management over financial reporting:
   A contingency theory perspective. *Journal of Leadership, Accountability and Ethics, 15*(4), 66–75.

https://doi.org/10.33423/jlae.v15i4.171org/10.33423/jlae.v15i4.171h

- Lawrence, L. (2015). Validity, reliability, and generalizability in qualitative research. Journal of Family Medicine and Primary Care, 4(3), 324–340. https://doi.org/10.4103/2249-4863.161306
- Lee, K., & Yoo, J. (2019). How does open innovation lead competitive advantage? A dynamic capability view perspective. *PLoS One*, *14*(11), 1–18. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0223405</u>
- Leech, N. L., & Onwuegbuzie, A. J. (2011). Beyond Constant Comparison Qualitative Data Analysis: Using NVivo. *School Psychology Quarterly*, 26(1), 70– 84. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0022711

 Lemon, L. L., & Hayes, J. (2020). Enhancing trustworthiness of qualitative findings: Using leximancer for qualitative data analysis triangulation. *The Qualitative Report, 25*(3), 604–614.
 <u>https://pdfs.semanticscholar.org/5296/9f9fa1442f24767e9fe867a27b63ed928cc8.</u>

pdf?\_ga=2.224868378.1412210110.1589518053-1114799039.1589518053

- Lester, J. N., Cho, Y., & Lochmiller, C. R. (2020). Learning to do qualitative data analysis: A starting point. *Human Resource Development Review*, *19*(1), 94–106. https://doi.org/10.1177/1534484320903890
- Lewis, T. L., & Loker, S. (2014). Technology usage intent among apparel retail employees. *International Journal of Retail & Distribution Management*, 42(5), 422–440. https://doi.org/10.1108/IJRDM-07-2012-0067
- Li, N., Dimitratos, P., Cadogan, J. W., & Freeman, S. (2014). How do business-level strategies affect multiple market servicing modes in the foreign country? *International Marketing Review*, *31*(5), 526–546. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/IMR-05-2013-0106</u>
- Lim, S., Wang, T. K., & Lee, S. (2017). Shedding new light on strategic human resource management: The impact of human resource management practices and human resources on the perception of federal agency mission accomplishment. *Public Personnel Management*, 46(2), 91–117.

https://doi.org/10.1177/0091026017704440

Lincoln, Y. S., & Guba, E. G. (1985). *Naturalistic inquiry*. Sage Publications.

Lindgreen, A., Palmer, R., Vanhamme, J., & Wouters, J. (2006). A relationshipmanagement assessment tool: Questioning, identifying, and prioritizing critical aspects of customer relationships. *Industrial Marketing Management*, *35*(1), 57–

71. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.indmarman.2005.08.008

Ling Florence, Y. Y., Yan, N., Chang, Y. H., & Zhang, Z. (2018). Human resource management practices to improve project managers' job satisfaction. *Engineering, Construction and Architectural Management, 25*(5), 654–669. https://doi.org/10.1108/ECAM-02-2017-0030

- LipiäInen, H. S. M. (2015). CRM in the digital age: implementation of CRM in three contemporary B2B firms. *Journal of Systems & Information Technology*, 17(1), 2. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/JSIT-06-2014-0044</u>
- Luamba, D. (2019). *Strategies small business owners use to remain sustainable* (Doctoral dissertation, Walden University). Scholar Works.
- Ma, C., Hefu, L., Jibao, G., & Junsheng, D. (2018). How entrepreneurs' Zhong-yong thinking improves new venture performance: The mediating role of guanxi and the moderating role of environmental turbulence. *Chinese Management Studies*, 12(2), 323–345. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/CMS-10-2016-0219</u>
- Machado, M. M., Daniela, O. H., Dalfovo, M. S., & Gonçalves, A. (2017). Co-op resources that lead to sustainable competitive advantage. *Revista Brasileira De Estratégia*, 10(1), 53–71. <u>https://periodicos.pucpr.br/</u>
- MacKechnie, C. (2017). *What are the types of business technology?* https://smallbusiness.chron.com/types-business-technology-167.html

Maggon, M., & Chaudhry, H. (2018). Exploring relationships between customer satisfaction and customer attitude from customer relationship management viewpoint: An empirical study of leisure travellers. *FIIB Business Review*, 7(1), 57–65. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/2319714518766118</u>

Mahfoud, H., Abdellah, E. B., & El Biyaali, A. (2018). Dependability-based maintenance optimization in healthcare domain. *Journal of Quality in Maintenance Engineering*, 24(2), 200–223. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/JQME-07-2016-0029</u>

- Manolova, T. S., Brush, C. G., Edelman, L. F., & Shaver, K. G. (2012). One size does not fit all: Entrepreneurial expectancies and growth intentions of us women and men nascent entrepreneurs. *Entrepreneurship & Regional Development, 24*(1), 7–27. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1080/08985626.2012.637344">https://doi.org/10.1080/08985626.2012.637344</a>
- Marshall, C., & Rossman, G. (2016). *Designing qualitative research* (6th ed.). Sage Publications, Inc.
- Matamonasa-Bennett, A. (2015). A disease of the outside people: Native American men's perceptions of intimate partner violence. *Psychology of Women Quarterly, 39*(1), 20–36. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0361684314543783</u>
- Matthes, J. M., & Ball, A. D. (2019). Discriminant validity assessment in marketing research. *International Journal of Market Research*, 61(2), 210–222. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1470785318793263</u>
- Mertens, E., Heylighen, A., Declercq, A., Hannes, K., Truyen, F., Denier, Y., & Dierckx de Casterlé, B. (2017). Qualibuddy: An online tool to improve research skills in

qualitative data analysis. *Qualitative Research Journal*, *17*(4), 306–318. https://doi.org/10.1108/QRJ-06-2016-0034.

- National Commission for the Protection of Human Subjects of Biomedical and Behavioral Research. (1979). *The Belmont Report: Ethical principles and guidelines for the protection of human subjects of research*. U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. <u>https://www.hhs.gov/ohrp/regulations-and-</u> <u>policy/belmont-report/read-the-belmont-report/index.html</u>
- Nebojša, J. (2015). The hybrid approach in the research of organizational culture. *Proceedings of the European Conference on E-Learning*, 314–321. <u>http://connection.ebscohost.com/</u>
- Neirotti, P., Raguseo, E., & Paolucci, E. (2018). How SMEs develop ICT-based capabilities in response to their environment. *Journal of Enterprise Information Management*, 31(1), 10–37. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/JEIM-09-2016-0158</u>
- Noble, H., & Smith, J. (2015). Issues of validity and reliability in qualitative research. *Evidence-Based Nursing*, 18(2), 34–35. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/eb-2015-102054</u>
- Noor, K. B. M. (2008). Case study: A strategic research methodology. *American Journal* of *Applied Sciences*, *5*(1), 1602–1604.

https://doi.org/10.3844/ajassp.2008.1602.1604

- Nwabueze, J. C. (2019). *Strategies to sustain small accounting businesses for longer than* 5 years (Doctoral dissertation, Walden University). ScholarWorks.
- Okumus, F., Bilgihan, A., Ozturk, A. B., & Zhao, X. R. (2017). Identifying and overcoming barriers to deployment of information technology projects in hotels.

Journal of Organizational Change Management, 30(5), 744–766.

https://doi.org/10.1108/JOCM-12-2015-0239

Oliveira, D.D. (2001). *Estratégia empresarial e vantagem competitiva: como estabelecer*, implementar e avaliar.

 Onwuegbuzie, A. J., Johnson, R. B., & Collins, K. M. (2009). Call for mixed analysis: A philosophical framework for combining qualitative and quantitative approaches. *International Journal of Multiple Research Approaches, 3*(2), 114–139. https://doi.org/10.5172/mra.3.2.114

- Pejić-Bach, M., & Cerpa, N. (2019). Editorial: Planning, conducting and communicating systematic literature reviews. *Journal of Theoretical and Applied Electronic Commerce Research*, 14(3). https://doi.org/10.4067/S0718-18762019000300101
- Perret, S. T., Burnett, M. F., & Richardson, W. B. (2017). Perceptions of the importance of succession planning in family owned businesses. *Academy of Business Research Journal*, *3*, 44–63.

https://www.researchgate.net/profile/Sean\_Walker7/publication/322508914\_The\_ Volatile\_Human\_Moderating\_Effects\_on\_Job\_Satisfaction\_after\_Job\_Redesign/l inks/5a5cff26458515c03ede7c08/The-Volatile-Human-Moderating-Effects-on-Job-Satisfaction-after-Job-Redesign.pdf#page=44

Perry, J. (2019). Report: Immigrant-owned small businesses generate \$1B in annual NJ economic activity. *Njbiz*, <u>https://njbiz.com/report-immigrant-small-business-ownership-cornerstone-nj-economy/</u>

- Peteraf, M., & Barney, J. (2003). Unraveling the resource-based tangle. *Managerial and Decision Economics*, *24*(4), 309–323. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/mde.1126</u>
- Phillips, M. S., Abdelghany, O., Johnston, S., Rarus, R., Austin-Szwak, J., & Kirkwood, C. (2017). Navigating the institutional review board (IRB) process for pharmacyrelated research. *Hospital Pharmacy*, 52(2), 105–116. https://doi.org/10.1310/hpj5202-105
- Piskur, B., Beurskens, A. J., Ketelaar, M., Jongmans, M. J., Casparie, B. M., & Smeets, R. J. (2017). Daily actions, challenges, and needs among Dutch parents while supporting the participation of their child with a physical disability at home, at school, and in the community: A qualitative diary study. *BMC Pediatrics, 17*(1), 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12887-016-0768-6
- Porter, M. (1979). How competitive forces shape strategy. *Harvard Business Review*, 57(2), 137–145. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-349-20317-8\_10</u>
- Postholm, M. B., & Skrøvset, S. (2013). The researcher reflecting on her own role during action research. *Educational Action Research*, 21(4), 506–518. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/09650792.2013.833798</u>
- Potter, A. (2018). Managing productive academia/industry relations: The interview as research method. *Media Practice & Education*, 19(2), 159–172. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/25741136.2018.1464716</u>
- Powell, A., Noble, C. H., Noble, S. M., & Han, S. (2018). Man vs machine: Relational and performance outcomes of technology utilization in small business CRM

support capabilities. European Journal of Marketing, 52(3), 725–757.

https://doi.org/10.1108/EJM-10-2015-0750

- Rahimi, R. (2017). Customer relationship management (people, process and technology) and organisational culture in hotels: Which traits matter? *International Journal of Contemporary Hospitality Management, 29*(5), 1380–1402.
  https://doi.org/10.1108/IJCHM-10-2015-0617
- Rasipuram, S., & Dinesh, B. J. (2018). Automatic assessment of communication skill in interview-based interactions. *Multimedia Tools and Applications*, 77(14), 18709– 18739. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11042-018-5654-9</u>
- Reddy, L. S., & Ramasamy, D. (2018). A digital approach: A trend analysis in data collection and challenges in ITO industry. *Journal of Applied Management Jidnyasa*, 9, 14–21.
  <u>https://www.researchgate.net/profile/Greeshma\_Manoj2/publication/337154249\_PARIVRIDDHI\_2017\_A\_National\_Refereed\_Journal\_of\_Multidisciplinary\_Stud ies/links/5dc83a79a6fdcc57503dd458/PARIVRIDDHI-2017-A-National-Refereed-Journal-of-Multidisciplinary-Studies.pdf#page=19
  </u>
- Reichstein, C. (2019). Strategic IT management: How companies can benefit from an increasing IT influence. *Journal of Enterprise Information Management*, 32(2), 251–273. https://doi.org/10.1108/JEIM-08-2018-0172
- Robinson, O. C. (2014). Sampling in interview-based qualitative research: A theoretical and practical guide. *Qualitative Research in Psychology*, 11(1), 25–41. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/14780887.2013.801543</u>

Rockwell, S. (2019). A resource-based framework for strategically managing identity. *Journal of Organizational Change Management, 32*(1), 80–102. <u>https://doi.org/</u> 10.1108/JOCM-01-2018-0012

- Roy, O., & Pacuit, E. (2013). Substantive assumptions in interaction: A logical perspective. *Synthese*, 190(5), 891–908. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11229-012-0191-y</u>
- Ruivo, P., Oliveira, T., & Mestre, A. (2017). Enterprise resource planning and customer relationship management value. *Industrial Management & Data Systems*, 117(8), 1612–1631. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/IMDS-08-2016-0340</u>
- Sachitra, V., & Chong, S. C. (2018). Resources, capabilities and competitive advantage of minor export crops farms in Sri Lanka. *Competitiveness Review: An International Business Journal*, 28(5), 478–502. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/CR-01-2017-0004</u>
- Santos, R. E. de S., Silva, F. Q. B. da, & Magalhaes, C. V. C. de. (2017). Member checking in software engineering research: Lessons learned from an industrial case study. ACM/IEEE International Symposium on Empirical Software Engineering and Measurement (ESEM), 187–192. https://doi.org/10.1109/ESEM.2017.29
- Saunders, M. N. K., Lewis, P., & Thornhill, A. (2015). *Research methods for business students* (7th ed.). Pearson Education Limited.
- Saunders, B., Sim, J., Kingstone, T., Baker, S., Waterfield, J., Bartlam, B., Burroughs, H.,& Jinks, C. (2018). Saturation in qualitative research: Exploring its

conceptualization and operationalization. Quality and Quantity, 52(4), 1893-

1907. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11135017-0574-8

- Shammot, M. (2014). The role of human resources management practices represented by employee's recruitment and training and motivating in realization competitive advantage. *International Business Research*, 8(1), 55–72. https://doi.org/10.5539/ibr.v7n4p55
- Sharafizad, J. (2018). Informal learning of women small business owners. *Education & Training*, *60*(1), 82–103. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/ET-01-2017-0006</u>
- Shenton, A. K. (2004) Strategies for ensuring trustworthiness in qualitative research projects. *Education for Information*, 22(2), 63–75. <u>https://doi.org/10.3233/EFI-2004-22201</u>
- Sheth, J. (2017). Revitalizing relationship marketing. *Journal of Services Marketing*, *31*(1), 6–10. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/JSM-11-2016-0397</u>
- Sigala, M. (2018). Implementing social customer relationship management. International Journal of Contemporary Hospitality Management, 30(7), 2698–2726. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/IJCHM-10-2015-0536</u>
- Sigalas, C., & Papadakis, V. M. (2018). Empirical investigation of relationship patterns between competitive advantage and superior performance. *Journal of Strategy* and Management, 11(1), 81–111. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/JSMA-01-2017-0010</u>
- Sinclair, S., Jaggi, P., Hack, T. F., McClement, S. E., Raffin-Bouchal, S., & Singh, P. (2018). Assessing the credibility and transferability of the patient compassion

model in non-cancer palliative populations. *BMC palliative care, 17*(1), 108–110. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12904-018-0358-5

- Sirivanichkul, J., Noobanjong, K., Saengratwatchara, S., Damrongsakul, W., & Louhapensang, C. (2018). Interpretation of a local museum in Thailand. *Sustainability*, 10(7), 2563. https://doi.org/10.3390/su10072563
- Sivell, S., Prout, H., Hopewell-Kelly, N., Baillie, J., Byrne, A., Edwards, M., Harrop, E., Noble, S., Sampson, C., & Nelson, A. (2019). Considerations and recommendations for conducting qualitative research interviews with palliative and end-of-life care patients in the home setting: A consensus paper. *BMJ Supportive & Palliative Care*, 9(1) e14. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjspcare-2015-000892</u>
- Skorska, A. (2018). Spatial diversity in development of knowledge intensive business services in the European union. *Book of Proceedings: Economic and Social Development*, 72–81. <u>https://www.mdpi.com/2071-1050/12/5/1845/pdf</u>
- Solli, H., & Hvalvik, S. (2019). Nurses striving to provide caregiver with excellent support and care at a distance: A qualitative study. *BMC Health Services Research*, 19(1), 1–12. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12913-019-4740-7</u>
- Small Business Administration (SBA). (2012). Advocacy: The voice of small business in government. <u>https://www.sba.gov/sites/default/files/FAQ\_Sept\_2012.pdf</u>
- Small Business Association. (2014). Frequently asked questions about small business. White paper, Small Business Association, Office of Advocacy.

Small Business Administration (SBA). (2018). Office of Advocacy: 2018 Small Business Profile. <u>https://www.sba.gov/sites/default/files/advocacy/2018-Small-Business-</u> <u>Profiles-All.pdf</u>

Smith, P. R. (2018). Collecting sufficient evidence when conducting a case study. *The Qualitative Report, 23*(5), 1043–1048.

https://nsuworks.nova.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=3188&context=tqr

Snider, J. H., & Davies, K. J. (2017). Success strategies for small financial planning firms. *International Journal of Applied Management and Technology*, 16(1). <u>https://doi.org/10.5590/IJAMT.2018.17.1.02</u>

Statista. (2018). *Global CRM Software Revenue 2010-2017. (2018)*. https://www.statista.com/statistics/294537/customer-relationship-managementcrm-software-revenue-worldwid/

Taguchi, N. (2018). Description and explanation of pragmatic development: Quantitative, qualitative, and mixed methods research. *System*, *75*, 23–32.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.system.2018.03.010

- Teece, D. J. (2009). Dynamic capabilities and strategic management. University Press.
- Tellis, W. M. (1997). Introduction to case study. *The qualitative report, 3*, 1–14. <u>https://nsuworks.nova.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=2024&context=tqr</u>

Theotokis, A., Vlachos, P. A., & Pramatari, K. (2008). The moderating role of customertechnology contact on attitude towards technology-based services. *European Journal of Information Systems*, 17(4), 343–351.

https://doi.org/10.1057/ejis.2008.32

- Trif, S-M., Dutu, C., & Tuleu, D-L. (2019). Linking CRM capabilities to business performance: A comparison within markets and between products. *Management* & Marketing, 14(3), 292–303. <u>https://doi.org/10.2478/mmcks-2019-0021</u>
- Tsang, E. W. (2014). Case studies and generalization in information systems research: A critical realist perspective. *The Journal of Strategic Information Systems*, 23(2), 174–186. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jsis.2013.09.002</u>
- Turcotte-Tremblay, A.-M., & Mc Sween-Cadieux, E. (2018). A reflection on the challenge of protecting confidentiality of participants while disseminating research results locally. *BMC Medical Ethics*, 19(S1), 5–11. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12910-018-0279-0
- Turulja, L., & Bajgorić, N. (2016). Innovation and information technology capability as antecedents of firms' success. *Interdisciplinary Description of Complex Systems*, 14(2), 148–156. <u>https://doi.org/10.7906/indecs.14.2.4</u>
- Twining, P., Heller, R., Nussbaum, M., & Tsai, C. (2016). Some guidance on conducting and reporting qualitative studies. *Computers & Science*, 106(1), 1–9. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.compedu.2016.12.002h</u>
- Ulrich, D. (1998). A new mandate for human resources. *Harvard Business Review*, 76, 124–134. <u>https://wikileakssudbury.org/WKL/E-15-12.pdf</u>
- U.S. Chamber of Commerce. (2018). Examining the impact of technology on small business. <u>https://www.uschamber.com/</u>
- van Tonder, E., & de Beer, L.T. (2018). New perspectives on the role of customer satisfaction and commitment in promoting customer citizenship behaviours. *South*

African Journal of Economic and Management Sciences, 21(1), 1–11 https://doi.org/10.4102/sajems.v21i1.1894

Vargas-Hernández, J. G., & Francia, C. G. (2019). The link between a firm's internal characteristics and performance: gptw & vrio dimension analysis. *Revista Brasileira De Estratégia*, 12(1), 19–30.

https://pdfs.semanticscholar.org/988e/3b2bba18f332be474bb642c08cb87785be36

.pdf?\_ga=2.196473260.1412210110.1589518053-1114799039.1589518053

Varley, R. (2001). *Retail product management: Buying and merchandising* [Book]. Routledge.

Venkatesh, V., Brown, S. A., & Bala, H. (2013). Bridging the qualitative divide:
 Guidelines for conducting mixed methods research in information systems.
 *Management Information Systems Quarterly*, 37(1), 21–54.
 <u>http://www.vvenkatesh.com/wp-</u>

content/uploads/2015/11/Venkatesh\_Brown\_Bala\_MISQ\_forthcoming.pdf

- Waters, J. (2016). Phenomenological research guidelines. Capilano University, 1–14. https://www.scribd.com/doc/154494229/Phenomenological-Research-Guidelines
- Whitmore, R., Crooks, V. A., & Snyder, J. (2019). Exploring informal caregivers' roles in medical tourism through qualitative data triangulation. *The Qualitative Report*, 24(8), 1852–1865.

https://nsuworks.nova.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=3550&context=tqr

- Wille, D., Hoffer, A., & Stephen, M. M. (2017). Small-business financing after the financial crisis – lessons from the literature. *Journal of Entrepreneurship and Public Policy*, 6(3), 315–339. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/JEPP-D-17-00005</u>
- Wijnhoven, F., & Brinkhuis, M. (2015). Internet information triangulation: Design theory and prototype evaluation. *Journal of the Association for Information Science and Technology*, 66(4), 684–701. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/asi.23203</u>
- Williams, M., & Moser, T. (2019). The art of coding and thematic exploration in qualitative research. *International Management Review*, 15(1), 45–55. <u>https://pdfs.semanticscholar.org/5dd2/51ddfbb6a563b900e53a9b3476a8c4b2557b</u> <u>.pdf</u>
- Xuhua, H., Elikem, O. C., Akaba, S., & Worwui-Brown, D. (2019). Effects of business to business e-commerce adoption on competitive advantage of small and medium-sized manufacturing enterprises. *Economics & Sociology, 12*(1), 80–99. https://doi.org/10.14254/2071-789X.2019/12-1/4
- Yeong, M. L., Ismail, R., Ismail, N. H., & Hamzah, M. I. (2018). Interview protocol refinement: Fine-tuning qualitative research interview questions for multi-racial populations in Malaysia. Qualitative Report, 23(11), 2700–2713. <u>https://nsuworks.nova.edu/tqr/</u>
- Yin, R. K. (1981). The case study as a serious research strategy. *Knowledge*, *3*(1), 97–114. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/107554708100300106</u>
- Yin, R. K. (2018). *Case study research and applications: Design and methods*. (6th ed.).Sage Publications, Inc.

- Zamawe, F. C. (2015). The implication of using NVivo software in qualitative data analysis: Evidence-based reflections. *Malawi Medical Journal, 27*(1), 13–15. <u>https://doi.org/10.4314/mmj.v27i1.4</u>
- Zikmund, W. G., Babin, B. J., Carr, J. C., & Griffin, M. (2013). Business Research Methods. South-Western Cengage Learning.

# **Specific Business Problem**

The specific business problem is that some SRB owners lack strategies to select the appropriate technology to achieve SCAs.

### **Research Question**

What strategies do SRB owners use to select the appropriate technology to achieve sustainable competitive advantages?

# **Primary Research Goals**

- 1. To understand how receptive small business owners are to utilizing technology to achieve sustainable competitive advantages.
- 2. To identify the strategies, small business owners use to select the right technology to achieve sustainable competitive advantages.
- 3. To understand how business owners keep their technology use up-to-date with market trends and directions.
- 4. To understand how the technology used by small business owners leads to sustainable competitive advantages.

## Participant Criteria

The criteria for participants for the interview include:

- 1. Small retail business owner in the New Jersey area.
- 2. Have successfully used technology to achieve competitive advantages over some time.
- 3. Have leadership skills or manage the business decisions.

What you will do	What you will say—script
This column contains what the researcher will be doing in addition to asking the interview questions.	This column contains what you will say to the participant as you proceed through the interview. Note—that one will add probing questions as appropriate.
Introduce the interview and set the stage—often over a meal or coffee Remember to show genuine care and concern for the interests of participants.	Thank you for agreeing to participate in this interview session. The purpose of this interview is to identify strategies small business owners used to select the appropriate technology to achieve sustainable competitive advantages. The focus of this study is on how the use of technology plays a vital role in achieving sustainable competitive advantages for business owners

Demonstrate good listening skills	in New Jersey.
Try to keep interview to within 1 hour. Ask for permission to continue or reschedule if interview exceeds 1 hour.	I would like to inform you that your participation should be voluntary and you have the right to discontinue this interview at any time. In addition, I assure you that I will protect the confidentiality of information you provide, and will only use the information for my doctoral study as indicated. I seek your permission to record this interview for the purpose of effective transcription and assure you that I shall securely keep all audio and written records of this interview.
	If you agree to participate voluntarily in this study, please sign the informed consent form.
Reminders that you should do during the interview.	<ol> <li>Interview question How receptive are you to utilizing technology in your daily business operations?</li> </ol>
<ul> <li>Watch for nonverbal cues</li> <li>Paraphrase as needed</li> <li>Ask follow-up probing questions to get more in-depth data.</li> <li>Remember that qualitative researchers need deep and rich data. A one sentence short answer to the interview question may provide superficial data at best.</li> <li>Again, probe, probe, probe, probe. Metaphorically</li> </ul>	<ol> <li>Interview question         What strategies do you use to mitigate the impact of outdated technology on your retail organizations' competitiveness?     </li> <li>Interview question         How do you determine if your current or updated technology is helping create value to achieve SCAs?     </li> <li>Interview question         How does your technology help differentiate your products or service from the products or services provided by competitors?     </li> <li>Interview question         How does your technology or technology strategy help your business evolve as the market changes?     </li> <li>Interview question         Any other details you would like to share about the research topic?     </li> </ol>
dig deep for rich data. Wrap up interview thanking participant	We have come to the end of this interview. Once again, thank you for participating in this interview.
Schedule follow-up member checking interview	If it is okay with you, please permit me to contact you in case I need additional information or clarifications. In addition, I would send you a copy of this interview to confirm that I have accurately represented your experiences and opinions, and share the findings of my research with you if you so desire.

## Appendix B: Documentary and Observation Protocol

#### **Specific Business Problem**

The specific business problem is that some SRB owners lack strategies to select the appropriate technology to achieve SCAs.

### **Research Question**

What strategies do SRB owners use to select the appropriate technology to achieve sustainable competitive advantages?

#### **Primary Research Goals**

- 1. To understand how receptive small business owners are to utilizing technology to achieve sustainable competitive advantages.
- 2. To identify the strategies, small business owners use to select the right technology to achieve sustainable competitive advantages.
- 3. To understand how business owners keep their technology use up-to-date with market trends and directions.
- 4. To understand how the technology used by small business owners leads to sustainable competitive advantages.

# **Types of documents**

Search public records and online for the following documents:

- 1. Company profit and loss statement is available
- 2. Company revenue and expenditure statement
- 3. Company websites, web presences, newsletters, magazines, and blogs
- 4. Organizational promotional materials
- 5. Public newspaper and magazine information about company
- 6. Company awards and certifications

# What you will do when collecting documentary evidence.

Remember to take the following actions when collecting documentary evidence:

- 1. Ask the participant's permission to use public and online information about the company in the study.
- 2. For printed documents, mask identifies to protect participant's identity
- 3. Perform a quick check for the authenticity of documents.
- 4. Clarify any issues about the authenticity of documents with participants.
- 5. Delete or blot identifying information from copies of documents.

- 6. Label documents appropriately for identification, storage, and analysis.
- 7. Store document in secure password protected vault.
- 8. Thank participants for sharing documents or giving permission to use documents.

# Criteria for authenticity/inclusion of documents

Check documents for authenticity using the following criteria before including documents:

- 1. What is the type of document?
- 2. What is the document's source and author?
- 3. What is the document date, age, and history?
- 4. Who is the intended audience of the document?
- 5. What is the purpose and context of the document?
- 6. What is the content of the document?
- 7. Is the document genuine and complete?

Select a date to observation the online presence of the business	I will choose a date range to observe how the business owner interacts and engage its customers to drive up business value.
Scheduled dates and times of direct	1. Date/Time:
observations.	2. Date/Time:
	3. Date/Time:
	4. Date/Time:
Observation areas	I will conduct careful observations of the business on social media platforms and search engines.
	I will observe how the business owner provides solutions that meet the needs and wants of the customers or potential customers.
	I will observe the online marketing strategy of the business.

	I will observe how the online presence and activities of the business owners impact revenue.
Take notes	I will take notes on the business owner's interaction with its customers virtually.
End of observations and wrap-up	This is the end of direct observations. Information gathered will be corroborated with public records and interview data.